UNDERSTANDING ACCESS TO POSTNATAL HEALTHCARE SERVICES AND SUPPORTS FOR RESETTLED SYRIAN REFUGEE WOMEN IN NOVA SCOTIA: BARRIERS, FACILITATORS, AND NEED FOR SERVICES

By:

Emma Stirling Cameron

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts

at

Dalhousie University Halifax, Nova Scotia July 2021

© Copyright by Emma Stirling Cameron, 2021

Dedication

This thesis is dedicated to the women of Syria and their families who have been displaced by the ongoing crisis. Your stories of strength and resiliency never cease to amaze me.

I also dedicate this thesis to my grandfather, Laird Stirling, who lost his battle with cancer halfway through my master's degree. He was the only other person in my family to have ever written a thesis. Before he passed away, he dedicated his type-written thesis to me, so I believe it's only fitting that I dedicate mine to him.

Table of Contents

List of Tables	vi
Abstract	vii
List of Abbreviations Used	viii
Glossary	ix
Acknowledgements	xiv
Chapter One: Introduction	1
The Global Migration Crisis	2
The Syrian Civil War and Mass Migration from Syria	2
The International Resettlement of Refugees	3
Immigration and Resettlement in Canada	4
The Importance of Postnatal Healthcare and Informal Supports	6
Inequities in Refugee Women's Health in the Postnatal Period	9
COVID-19 and Postnatal Healthcare	10
Summary and Aims of Thesis Content	11
Chapter Two: Research Method and Design	13
Conducting Qualitative Research	14
Setting	
Researcher Reflexivity	16
Study Population	18
Participant Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria	18
Sampling and Recruitment	18
Data Collection Setting	20
Data Collection Procedure	
Data Analysis	21
Quality and Rigour	
Ethical Considerations	23
Chapter Three Summary	25
Chapter Three: Manuscript One	
Abstract	
Introduction	29

Methods	
Methodology	
Recruitment and Procedure	
Results	
The Importance of Social Support	
Access and Quality of Healthcare Influenced by Structural Barriers	
Provider Paternalism and Women's Decision-Making Autonomy	39
Valued and Missing Postnatal Health Services and Supports	41
Discussion	
Implications Limitations	
Conclusion	
Chapter Four: Manuscript 2	50
Abstract	
Introduction	
Methods Setting	
Methodology	
Recruitment and Procedure	
Analysis	59
Results	59
Impacts of COVID-19 on Postnatal Healthcare	
Loss of Informal Support	
Anxiety and Grief Caused by COVID-19	
Discussion	
Limitations Conclusion	
Chapter 5: Discussion	
•	
Implications for Health Promotion	
Cultural Safety and Humility	
Postnatal Social Support Programming	
Knowledge Mobilization	85
Future Directions	86
References	88
Appendix A: Confidentiality Agreement for Interpreters	106
Appendix B: Email to Community Organizations	108
Annendix C. Email Response for RA	109

Appendix D: Telephone Script for Interested Women Calling the Phone	110
Appendix E: Recruitment Poster	112
Appendix F: Consent Form- Individual Interview	113
Appendix G: Demographics Form	118
Appendix H: Interview Guide	120
Appendix I: Lists of Services/Supports	122
Appendix J: Social Media Post	124
Appendix K: Reminder Email	125
Appendix L: Ethics Approval	126

List of Tables

Table 1	Participant demographics table for Manuscript 1	.49
Table 2	Participant demographics table for Manuscript 2	75

Abstract

This manuscript-based thesis explores access to healthcare and the availability and use of informal supports for resettled Syrian refugee women during the postnatal period. This thesis took a qualitative approach, using elements of constructivist grounded theory. Eleven women completed individual interviews during the months of August and September 2020 in an urban area in Nova Scotia. Pre-pandemic experiences are reported in Manuscript 1; COVID-19 experiences are reported in Manuscript 2. All participants had been separated from their extended family and felt their absence of support during the postpartum period. Some women had developed a new social network, while others had only their partner to offer support in Canada. Similar systemic barriers existed for participants before and during COVID-19, including irregular access to interpretation services and limited childcare. Policy change, program development, and/or interventions are needed to improve access to postnatal services and supports for resettled Syrian women.

List of Abbreviations Used

IDP Internally Displaced Person

IOM

International Organization on Migration
Immigration, Refugees, and Citizenship Canada
Immigrant Services Association of Nova Scotia **IRCC ISANS**

Nova Scotia NS UN **United Nations**

United Nations Educational, Scientific, Cultural **UNESCO**

Organization

United Nations High Commission for Refugees World Health Organization **UNHCR**

WHO

Glossary

Asylum Seeker

The United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization defines asylum seekers as, "people who move across borders in search of protection, but who may not fulfil the strict criteria laid down by the 1951 Convention. Asylum seeker describes someone who has applied for protection as a refugee and is awaiting the determination of his or her status. Refugee is the term used to describe a person who has already been granted protection. Asylum seekers can become refugees if the local immigration or refugee authority deems them as fitting the international definition of refugee... In most countries, the terms asylum seeker/asylee and refugee differ only in regard to the place where an individual asks for protection. Whereas an asylum seeker asks for protection after arriving in the host country, a refugee asks for protection and is granted this protected status outside of the host country (UNESCO, 2017)."

Blended Visa Office-Referred Program

This program matches UNHCR-identified refugees, who have already been vetted and approved by the Canadian government, with community-led private sponsorship groups in Canada. Private refugee sponsorship groups (e.g., Rainbow Refugee Association of Nova Scotia, Open Harbor Refugee Association; Open Harbour Refugee Association, 2019; Rainbow Refugee Association of Nova Scotia, 2019) agree to support the refugee(s) for 12-months, providing orientation services. The Canadian government funds half of the year-long costs to support the refugee(s) and the private sponsorship group supplies the other.

Formal Service

For the purposes of this study, a formal health service will include any care, resources, treatment, or support provided by a formal institution or program whose mandate is to care for or assist postpartum mothers. These services are widespread and can include, but are not limited to, services provided by a family physician, obstetrician, public health nurse, social worker, doula, nongovernment organization, or mental health professional.

Government Assisted Refugee Program

Refugees who have been identified and registered with the UNHCR are referred to Canada for admission through the government-assisted refugee program. Individuals cannot directly apply to this program. Refugees who are admitted through the government-assisted refugee program are eligible to receive income assistance from the federal government (Government of Canada, 2017c). Government-assisted refugees receive support from nongovernment organizations funded by Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada (e.g., Immigration Services Association of Nova Scotia) for 12months, or until the refugee(s) can support themselves independently. Support services helps refugees settle and orient to life in Canada. NGOs typically assist refugees in finding affordable housing and employment, offer orientation programs on accessing healthcare, provide English and French courses and basic education classes. **Immigrant**

According to Statistics Canada, the term immigrant refers to a "person [who] has been granted the right to live in Canada permanently by immigration authorities. Some immigrants have resided in Canada for a number of years, while others have arrived

recently. Some immigrants are Canadian citizens, while others are not." Immigrants have chosen to emigrate from their country of origin, whereas refugees have been forced to leave (Statistics Canada, 2016b).

Informal Supports

For the purposes of this study, informal supports will include any non-formal support provided that contributes to improved postnatal health. Examples may include family or friends providing social support and guidance, offering childcare support, cooking or cleaning, or providing transportation to appointments.

Internally Displaced Person

According to the UNHCR (2018b), an internally displaced person (IDP), "has been forced to flee their home but has not crossed an international border. These individuals seek safety anywhere they can find it—in nearby towns, schools, settlements, internal camps, even forests and fields. IDPs, which include people displaced by internal strife and natural disasters, are the largest group that UNHCR assists. Unlike refugees, IDPs are not protected by international law or eligible to receive many types of aid because they are legally under the protection of their own government" (UNHCR, 2018b).

Migrant

The UNHCR states that, "A 'migrant' is fundamentally different from a refugee. Refugees are forced to flee to save their lives or preserve their freedom, but 'migrant' describes any person who moves, usually across an international border, to join family members already abroad, to search for a livelihood, to escape a natural disaster, or for a

range of other purposes. However, refugees and migrants often employ the same routes, modes of transport, and networks" (UNHCR, 2019a).

Postnatal/Postpartum Period

For the purposes of this study, the postnatal or postpartum period will refer to the first 12 months after childbirth.

Postnatal Health

For the purposes of this study, the term postnatal health will refer to maternal and not infant health within the first 12 months of childbirth. Healthcare will include biomedical care, psychological care/mental health (e.g., postpartum depression, anxiety), and social supports.

Private Refugee Sponsorship Program

This runs similarly to the blended visa office-reformed program, in that private refugee sponsorship groups, or individuals or groups can apply to sponsor UNHCR-identified refugees and people in refugee-like situations for consideration for resettlement in Canada (Refugee Sponsorship Training Program, 2021). If approved, the organization, group, or individual is solely responsible for supporting the sponsored refugees for a minimum of 12 months. They must provide full financial support and orient refugees to life in Canada (e.g., setting up them up with a health card, registering children for school, finding housing and furniture).

Refugee 1

A refugee is an individual who has been forced to flee their home country as a result of a persecution, conflict, or violence. A refugee has a well-founded fear of persecution for reasons of race, religion, nationality, political opinion or membership in a particular social group. Refugees are unable to return to their country of origin or are afraid to do so and are seeking refuge in another country (UNHCR, 2018d).

-

¹ The author acknowledges that the label of refugee can be stigmatizing for many people. The term will be used in this paper to differentiate between the legal definition/experiences of refugees, immigrants, IDPs, migrants, and asylum seekers.

Acknowledgements

This thesis could not have been completed without the support of so many people. First and foremost, I would like to thank the eleven women who took part in this study. I learned so much from every one of you. Thank you for sharing your stories of loss, grief, transition, and new beginnings. I am eternally grateful for the time you gave and loved every moment of our conversations.

I would also like to thank several community stakeholders who helped get this project off the ground. Thank you to Dr. Heather Scott, Dr. Navi Bal, Hala Nader of the IWK Obstetrics and Gynecology Department; Zrinka Seles-Vranjes and Patricia Madut at ISANS; and Erin Fair and Whitney Cruikshank at the Chebucto Family Centre. Your expertise and guidance made this work possible.

To my research assistant, Marwa Kuri: I am so thankful to have met you and learned from you. This project could not have happened without you! Your mastery of English and Arabic continues to amaze me, as does your endless compassion and selflessness.

To my supervisor, Dr. Lois Jackson: I don't even know what to say. You have been an incredible mentor and supervisor, beyond what I could have ever expected. My master's journey was completely shaped by your unwavering support and kindness. Your commitment to rigorous research and community advocacy is something to aspire to. I truly hope this will not be our last collaboration. Thank you, thank you, thank you.

To my committee members, Drs. Megan Aston and Howard Ramos: Thank you for being a part of this (slightly longer than expected) journey with me. You both have such passion for your respective areas of research which made collaborating on this thesis so enjoyable. Thank you for your continued support and feedback.

To my Health Promotion friends: You made these last few years so much fun. You are all such talented, amazing, passionate people with incredible projects of your own. Thank you for learning with me, I love you all.

To my mom: Thank you for being an endless supply of motivation and strength. From an early age you taught me the importance of justice and equity. I carried that with me through this degree. Everything that I am is because of you.

To Lizabellah: You are my sunshine. Many of these pages were written while watching you play, with you on my lap, but especially after I put you to bed! You showed me the importance of spending time away from my computer, and I am forever grateful.

Finally, to Ben: You've read these papers so many times you maybe know them better than me! I truly could not have done this without your love and support (and the many, many jokes). You have always pushed me to be the best version of myself. Thank you for all you did while on your own academic journey. Cheers to many more years of school for us both!

I would like to acknowledge the financial support I received throughout my master's degree. I would like to thank the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council, Dalhousie University, BRIC Nova Scotia, the Michael Smith Foundation, and the IWK Health Centre for their contributions. The opinions, results and conclusions reported in this paper are those of the authors and are independent from the funding sources. No endorsement by any of the named funding partners is intended or should be inferred.

Chapter One: Introduction

The postnatal period is a time when women need access to formal healthcare services and informal social supports to maintain and promote their own health and that of their children. Resettled refugee women, however, are known to encounter a variety of barriers when accessing or attempting to access services and supports for their health (Henry et al., 2020; Heslehurst et al., 2018; Higginbottom et al., 2016; Khanlou et al., 2017). Access to postnatal healthcare remains inequitable for refugee populations in Canada. Resettled refugee women are significantly more likely to have a poorer postpartum health status (Ganann et al., 2012) and a greater number of unmet physical and mental health concerns when compared to Canadian-born women (Gagnon et al., 2013). Rates of postpartum depression are five-times higher among refugee women when compared to Canadian-born women. Refugee women living in Canada rated community health services unfavorably (Ganann et al., 2012), underutilize healthcare services (Chan et al., 2018), and report encountering a myriad of individual and systematic barriers when accessing or attempting to access services for their postnatal health (Sword et al., 2006). These barriers, including a limited understanding of the Canadian healthcare system, language and communication differences, culturally inappropriate services or providers, stigma surrounding the use of mental health services, and a lack of informal social support, have been reported to negatively contribute to refugee women's uptake of postpartum health services, and ultimately, their health status (Gagnon et al., 2010; Sword et al., 2006). Moreover the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic appears to be further exacerbating health inequities for marginalized populations—yet the experiences of resettled refugee women are not fully known (Chandler et al., 2021; Elisabeth et al.,

2020). The purpose of this thesis was to understand the lived experiences of Syrian refugee women when accessing or attempting to access formal services and informal maternal health supports during the postnatal period, both before and during the early months of COVID-19 in Nova Scotia.

The Global Migration Crisis

The world is currently in the midst of the largest global migration crisis ever recorded, with people being forcibly displaced at an exponential rate (UNHCR, 2020b). The United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR) reported an estimated 79.5 million people displaced at the end of 2020 (UNHCR, 2020a). Over 45.7 million of these people are internally displaced, 25.9 million are refugees, and 4.2 million are asylum seekers (UNHCR, 2020a). Each day, 37,000 new people are forced to flee their homes as a result of persecution, conflict, or human rights violations (UNHCR, 2019b). One in every 110 people is now a refugee, asylum seeker, or is internally displaced (UNHCR, 2020a). The past decade has a seen a sharp increase in forced displacement, with over 100 million people forced to migrate. One of the major crises that has contributed to this rise in statelessness has been the outbreak of the Syrian conflict, which began in early 2011. Syria has been the main country of origin for refugees globally since 2014 (UNHCR, 2020b).

The Syrian Civil War and Mass Migration from Syria

The Syrian Arab Republic (Syria) has been in the midst of civil conflict for nearly 10 years (Encyclopaedia Britannica, 2018). As a result, the largest proportion of currently displaced refugees have fled from Syria – over 6.6 million people (UNHCR, 2020b). Conflict remains ongoing with no definitive end in sight (BBC, 2018, 2019;

Encyclopaedia Britannica, 2018). Estimates suggest that over 400,000 Syrians have been killed as a result of the civil war. Another million people have been injured (United Nations, 2019). Living situations in Syria remain tenuous. Once vibrant cities, Aleppo, Damascus, Raqqa, and Homs, have been almost completely destroyed (CNN, 2018). Public buildings, including schools, health clinics, and hospitals, have been ruined (BBC, 2018; Unicef: Middle East and North Africa, 2019). School attendance has declined by more than 50%; one-quarter of schools have been damaged or completely destroyed (United Nations, 2019). Water supplies have diminished to less than half of its pre-crisis supply, and over 6.5 million people are food insecure (World Food Programme, 2018).

Due to the ongoing violence and largely unlivable circumstances, many Syrians have had no choice but to flee. Reports from the UNCHR (2021) state that there are over 6.7 million Syrian refugees worldwide, with over 5.6 million hosted in neighbouring countries including Turkey, Lebanon, and Jordan. Refugees can remain in camps or temporary shelters for years, if not decades (Sheikh-Mohammed et al., 2006; UNHCR, 2018d). Long-term occupancy in such a situation is unsustainable. To mitigate long-term occupancy in refugee camps and shelters, the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees resettles a small percentage of the world's refugees in high-income countries, in order to provide a more sustainable, long-term living solution (UNHCR, 2018a). International resettlement is a life-saving tool, playing a key role in housing some of the most vulnerable refugees (UNHCR, 2020b).

The International Resettlement of Refugees

Approximately 1% of refugees are resettled in one of 28 developed nations, including Canada, the United States of America, Australia, the United Kingdom, and

Germany (UNHCR, 2020b). Resettlement is defined by the UNHCR as the, "careful selection by governments for purposes of lawful admission of the most vulnerable refugees who can neither return to their home country nor live safely in neighbouring host countries (UNHCR, 2017)." The most vulnerable refugees are selected and transferred from the state in which they have sought refuge and are to be transferred to a third-party country which has agreed to admit them (UNHCR, 2017). Preference is given to women and girls, children, individuals with complex medical needs or disabilities, and survivors of torture or assault (UNHCR, 2018c, 2018a). Individuals and families can wait for years, even decades, to be assigned to a country for resettlement (UNHCR, 2018c). Syrians continue to represent the largest group of refugees worldwide, with over one-quarter of all recent refugees having fled from Syria. Keeping with global trends, the largest proportion of refugees coming to Canada over the past five years have originated from Syria (UNHCR, 2020b). Given their relatively recent arrival in Canada, research on Syrian newcomers' experiences has been limited.

Immigration and Resettlement in Canada

Multiculturalism and supportive immigration practices have become an integral component of Canadian identity (Statistics Canada, 2016a, 2017; Wayland, 1997).

Between the years 1867 and 2017, over 17 million people have come to Canada through the immigration process (Statistics Canada, 2017). At present, immigrants (defined in the Glossary) account for approximately one fifth of the total Canadian population (Statistics Canada, 2016a). 300,000 immigrants are arriving annually to Canada, with that number expected to rise to 350,000 by 2021 (IRCC, 2018). Approximately 10-15% of newcomers are entering Canada as a refugee (Newbold & McKeary, 2018). As the number one

refugee admitting country in the world, Canada plays an integral role in the international resettlement of refugees (UNHCR, 2020b).

In light of the migratory crisis that ensued after the outbreak of the Syrian civil war, Canada committed to resettling 25,000 Syrian refugees in 2016 (Government of Canada, 2017b, 2017a, 2019b). Between January, 2015 and March, 2019, 44,620 Syrian refugees were resettled across Canada (Government of Canada, 2019c), with over 2,920 refugees resettled in Nova Scotia during that time (Government of Canada, 2019a).

Refugees are typically resettled in Canada through one of three routes (excluding those seeking asylum): the private sponsorship program, the blended visa office-referred refugee program, or the government-assisted refugee program. Programs differ in terms who provides financial support for the refugee(s) and who offers orientation to Canadian life. Definitions of each program are outlined in the Glossary. Through all of these methods of entry, refugees are given permanent residency in Canada. All resettled refugees, like other permanent residents, are entitled to all the social benefits Canadian citizens receive, including access to health coverage, the ability to live, work, and study, and will become eligible to apply for citizenship.

Immigrants and refugees are an important economic and social benefit to Canadian society. By 2031, migration could account for over 80% of Canada's population growth (Statistics Canada, 2018). As Canada's population ages, and fertility rates remain low, immigration will play an integral role in ensuring that Canada's population and labour force will continue to grow (IRCC, 2017, 2018; Statistics Canada, 2018). Indeed, Canadian-born individuals fill the majority of jobs available in the labour market, yet gaps remain. New immigrants help to fill employment shortages, in turn,

stimulating economic growth. Like all Canadian-born people, immigrants pay taxes and spend their income on housing, transportation, and other consumer goods, ultimately stimulating the economy.

The majority of incoming Syrian refugees are young women, many of whom are of childbearing age (Government of Canada, 2019a). Refugee resettlement agencies in Canada report that the majority of women they are supporting are pregnant, postnatal, or have arrived with a young family (IRCC, 2016). Presently, 20% of women giving birth in Canada are immigrants, refugees, or refugee claimants; these women are also bearing a greater number of children compared to Canadian-born women (Statistics Canada, 2006). As such, large proportions of refugee women are in need of appropriate and accessible prenatal, delivery, and postnatal healthcare services in Canada.

The Importance of Postnatal Healthcare and Informal Supports

The postnatal period is often an exciting time for new parents. It is also a critical period when mothers may need access to health services and informal supports to treat a variety of psychosocial and physical health concerns (Brown & Lumley, 1998). Nearly 95% of women report experiencing one or more maternal health concerns (i.e., relating to the health of the mother) within the first six months of childbirth, including mastitis, prolonged vaginal bleeding, urinary incontinence, vaginal or caesarian site pain, postpartum blues or depression, and social isolation (Brown & Lumley, 1998). Untreated health problems are directly related to a decrease in women's emotional wellbeing and functional abilities, including an inability to complete routine household activities, provide childcare, and return to work (Webb et al., 2008). Timely and effective postpartum healthcare provided by formal healthcare professionals (e.g., family

physicians, obstetricians, psychologists, doulas) can prevent short- and long-term consequences of unrecognized and poorly managed health morbidities (Haran et al., 2014).

In addition to the availability of formal health services, informal supports provided by spouses, relatives, friends or associates, plays a crucial role in the health and wellbeing of new mothers (Eastwood et al., 2012; Emmanuel et al., 2012; Webster et al., 2011). The World Health Organization states that access to informal support persons is necessary for maternal and infant wellbeing and contributes to a positive transition into motherhood (WHO, 2005). Women with low levels of informal support are more likely to report having postpartum depression and a lower quality of life, when compared to women who report feeling well supported (Webster et al., 2011). Persistent postpartum depression has been correlated with insecure infant attachment, and lower infant cognitive and psychomotor development (Cornish et al., 2005). Social support acts as a protective factor against depressive symptoms, enhances maternal parental self-efficacy, and improves coping during the postnatal period (Emmanuel et al., 2012; Higginbottom et al., 2014).

Access to Postnatal Healthcare and Informal Supports for Resettled Refugee
Women

Resettled refugee women report experiencing a myriad of barriers when attempting to or actually accessing healthcare services, often as a result of the complex reality resettled refugee women experience (Peláez et al., 2017). Loss of employment status, financial insecurity, language discordance, change in family dynamics, and the adjustment to new social norms can all influence the ways in which resettled refugee

women access healthcare. Resettled refugee women are therefore required to cope with the challenges of new parenthood in conjunction with the stressors and transitions that often accompany resettlement (Iqbal et al., 2021; Khanlou et al., 2017).

Language and communication differences between patients and providers can influence women's abilities to convey their concerns and interpret healthcare providers' instructions and advice, leaving many resettled refugees dependent on interpretation services (Khanlou et al., 2017; Riggs et al., 2012; Wu & Rawal, 2017; Yeheskel & Rawal, 2019). While interpreters are sometimes provided, it is often inconsistent and not readily available, there can be issues of confidentiality, and appointments may not be long enough to accommodate patient-provider-interpreter communication (Correa-Velez & Ryan, 2012; Henry et al., 2020; Khan & DeYoung, 2019; Riggs et al., 2012; Wu & Rawal, 2017; Yeheskel & Rawal, 2019). Financial constraints—including the cost of prescription medications or a limited access to childcare and transportation—can deter women from engaging with the healthcare system and lead to missed or delayed appointments (Correa-Velez & Ryan, 2012; Gagnon et al., 2010; Heslehurst et al., 2018; Khanlou et al., 2017; O'Mahony et al., 2012; Riggs et al., 2012) Women further report feeling confused navigating the health system of their host country, not knowing that supports exist for particular concerns—especially in the treatment of postpartum depression (Higginbottom et al., 2014). Perceptions of racism, discrimination, and culturally unsafe or discordant care can negatively influence women's trust and future engagement with the healthcare system (Gurnah et al., 2011; Henry et al., 2020; Niner et al., 2013; O'Mahony et al., 2013).

It is also common for resettled refugee women to have lost or been separated from family or friends during their time spent as a refugee and throughout the resettlement process (Ahmed et al., 2008; Ahmed et al., 2017; Higginbottom et al., 2014; Niner et al., 2013). Many refugee women have reduced social networks upon arriving in their host country, resulting in lower levels of available informal supports during the postnatal period (Ahmed et al., 2008; Ahmed et al., 2017; Higginbottom et al., 2014; Niner et al., 2013; Teng et al., 2007; Zelkowitz et al., 2004). Linguistic and cultural barriers often impede resettled refugee women's ability to socially integrate into their host country. Resettled refugee women with social networks containing fewer women, relatives, and people from their own ethic background are more likely to experience high rates of depressive symptoms (Zelkowitz et al., 2004). Women have reported feeling overwhelmed and frightened about having to care for a new baby without the advice and support of their extended family (Ahmed et al., 2008). No informal supports to help with childcare has been connected to delayed or missed medical appointments (Higginbottom et al., 2016). Resettled refugee women with limited social supports also reported feeling unable to rest without their mothers or sisters around to help with cleaning, cooking, and infant care (Niner et al., 2013).

Inequities in Refugee Women's Health in the Postnatal Period

Reduced access to relevant postnatal health services and a reduced informal support network has been seen to negatively impact the health of resettled refugee women (Ahmed et al., 2008; Ganann et al., 2012; Sword et al., 2006). Refugee women are significantly more likely to have a poorer postpartum health status (Ganann et al., 2012) and a greater number of unmet physical and mental health concerns when compared to

Canadian-born women (Anita J. Gagnon et al., 2013). Rates of postpartum depression are five-times higher among refugee women when compared to Canadian-born women (D. E. Stewart et al., 2008). Refugee women underutilise healthcare services (Chan et al., 2018) and rate community health services unfavourably (Ganann et al., 2012).

COVID-19 and Postnatal Healthcare

Since early 2020, the SARS-CoV-2 virus has spread rapidly, infecting hundreds of millions of people with COVID-19 across the globe (WHO, 2021). To combat the spread of the virus, countries around the world implemented a variety of public health measures and restrictions, including stay-at-home orders, physical distancing measures, border controls, quarantine requirements, and hospital restrictions (Government of Canada, 2021). While these important public health measures have helped to curb the spread of the virus, they have had significant consequences on population mental health and access to healthcare (Ghebreyesus, 2020).

The effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on birthing and postnatal women have been profound, with particular, negative implications on women's mental health.

Increased rates of depressive symptoms and anxiety, extreme loneliness, isolation, and exhaustion have been reported (Davenport et al., 2020; Dol et al., 2020; Hessami et al., 2020; Kotlar et al., 2021; Ollivier et al., 2021). Opportunities to share their infant's milestones and connect with other parents has largely been restricted to online platforms (Ollivier et al., 2021). Others further described feeling fearful around exposing their babies to COVID-19 (Dol et al., 2020). Though the impacts of COVID-19 on the general population have received considerable attention, limited work has been conducted with refugee populations, with no known studies reporting on the impacts of the COVID

environment on the postnatal experiences of resettled refugee women in Canada and more specifically, Nova Scotia.

Research Problem

The accessibility of formal healthcare services and the availability of informal social supports is crucial for supporting refugee mothers during the postnatal period (Asma Ahmed et al., 2017; Reitmanova & Gustafson, 2008). Few studies have been conducted to understand the experiences of resettled refugee women seeking maternal healthcare and the availability and importance of informal social supports during the postnatal period. Qualitative inquiry is needed to outline the barriers and facilitators facing resettled refugee women who have accessed or attempted to access formal maternal healthcare services and informal social supports during the postnatal period. Eliciting the first-person perspectives of postnatal refugee mothers is a critical step in improving the accessibility and availability of maternal health services and social supports.

Summary and Aims of Thesis Content

This thesis describes a qualitative program of research aiming to understand the lived experiences of resettled Syrian refugee women in an urban centre in Nova Scotia with a particular focus on access to maternal health services and informal supports during the postnatal period. Eleven resettled refugee women residing in the Halifax area participated in a semi-structured interview in August and September 2020.

The first manuscript (Chapter 3, Manuscript 1) of this thesis describes participants' postpartum experiences prior to the onset of COVID-19. All 11 women had given birth before the pandemic and their data were analysed and reported in Manuscript

- 1. This manuscript addresses the following overarching question with three additional sub-questions: What are Syrian refugee women's experiences accessing or attempting to access formal and informal maternal health services and supports during the postnatal period in an urban centre in Nova Scotia, Canada?
 - a. What barriers and facilitators to formal maternal healthcare services are experienced by Syrian refugee women during the postnatal period in NS, Canada?
 - b. What barriers and facilitators to informal supports are experienced by Syrian refugee women during the postnatal period in NS, Canada?
 - c. What existing formal and informal supports are perceived to be most valuable by resettled Syrian refugee women and what, if any, services or supports are needed?

Eight of the 11 women interviewed were postnatal with their second or third Canadian baby during the early months of the COVID-19 pandemic. These women were asked a series of additional interview questions which ask specifically about their "COVID-19 babies". Their pandemic-specific experiences were analysed separately and are reported in Manuscript 2 (Chapter 4). This manuscript sought to address the following question:

a. How did COVID-19 impact resettled refugee women's abilities to access healthcare services and informal supports during the first six months of the pandemic?

Chapter Two: Research Method and Design

This chapter describes the research design and methods that were used to explore the lived experiences of postnatal Syrian refugee women living in Nova Scotia who accessed postpartum-related formal and informal services and supports before and during COVID-19. The chapter describes the qualitative, constructivist approach that was taken for this research project and describes how elements of grounded theory were incorporated into the study design. An overview of participant inclusion criteria, recruitment strategies, data collection and analysis, and ethical considerations are also provided. This chapter provides a detailed overview of methodological considerations and study methods. Journal-specific method sections are included in each respective manuscript. This research project was approved by the Dalhousie University Research Ethics Board in 2020 (REB# 2019-5016; see Appendix M).

Conducting Qualitative Research

This study implemented a qualitative design embedded in constructivist theory, using elements of constructivist grounded theory to better understand the lived experiences of resettled Syrian refugee women in the context of Nova Scotia. Qualitative research takes an "interpretive, naturalistic approach" wherein researchers "study things in their natural settings, attempting to make sense of, or interpret, phenomena in terms of the meaning people bring to them" (Denzin & Lincoln, 1994, p.2.). Qualitative research seeks to understand complex social and human problems (Creswell & Poth, 2018, p.8) and helps to provide a "complex, detailed understanding of [an] issue" (p.46). Creswell and Poth (2018) state that qualitative research helps to provide a platform for "silenced voices" (p.45). Qualitative methods are most suitable for research projects seeking to

understand the lived or inner experiences of participants, explore under-researched topics, and take a comprehensive approach to understanding the phenomenon under study (Corbin & Strauss, 2015). A qualitative approach was deemed to be the most appropriate research methodology for this study, to develop a rich description of the lived experiences of resettled refugee women, something which has not been studied in Atlantic Canada.

Constructivist Paradigm

A paradigm is a set of world views, determining the ways in which researchers' study and interpret the world (Denzin & Lincoln, 1994; Mackenzie & Knipe, 2006). The constructivist paradigm acknowledges that all perspectives are socially constructed. It posits that all social realities are subjective and developed through individuals' mutual understandings, interpretations, and experiences and are further mediated by the dominant social and historical context (Guba & Lincoln, 1994). Constructivist approaches to research attempt to understand the human experience from the perspectives of individuals living in that world (Denzin & Lincoln, 1994; Mackenzie & Knipe, 2006). Researchers utilizing a constructivist approach do not attempt to remain objective during the research process, instead they recognize and accept the potential influence of their own biases on the interpretation of data (see Researcher Reflexivity statement below; Guba and Lincoln, 1994). The constructivist paradigm fit well with the study as the purpose of this research project was to better understand the lived experiences of Syrian refugee women who utilized postnatal health services in Nova Scotia.

Grounded Theory

This research project was conducted using elements of grounded theory. The practices of grounded theory, first developed by Glaser and Strauss (1967), are designed to aid the researcher in developing a set of concepts that theoretically explain a social phenomenon under study (Corbin & Strauss, 1990). Grounded theorists propose that theories should be 'grounded' in data from the field, through the actions, interactions, and social processes of people. A grounded theory seeks to capture the social process in a social context (Glaser & Strauss, 1967) and is well suited to research examining human behaviour relating to healthcare (Wuest, 2012, p.230). Grounded theory is an approach often taken to better contextualize an understudied phenomenon or experience (Wuest, 2012, p.230). Grounded theory coding allows data analysis to emerge from the data itself to construct themes grounded in participants' experiences (Charmaz, 2006).

Charmaz (2014) states that grounded theory is a "constellation of methods" (p.14). Similarly, Corbin and Strauss (2015) describe the variety of analytic strategies/methods available to researchers using grounded theory. They encourage researchers to develop their own "repertoire of strategies" (p.89) to fit their research project. In this study, we implemented grounded theory techniques including inductive line-by-line coding, focus coding, and constant comparisons. Inductive line-by-line coding was implemented first, wherein small segments of data were assigned a key idea (Charmaz, 2014). Focused coding followed and key ideas were organized into preliminary categories (Charmaz, 2014). Constant comparisons were used throughout the process of analysis to compare data between and within transcripts (Charmaz, 2014).

Ultimately, themes are not predetermined but arise through data analysis (Corbin and Strauss, 2015). The purpose of utilizing grounded theory for this research was not to

develop a theory, but to gain a conceptual understanding of the experiences of resettled Syrian refugees using postnatal services in Nova Scotia. Techniques of grounded theory were applied to data collection and analysis to develop a comprehensive understanding of the phenomenon. These methods were chosen to highlight the first voice and share the lived experiences of resettled refugee women.

Setting

Data were collected from women residing in the Halifax Regional Municipality. Halifax, Nova Scotia is the largest city among the Atlantic Canadian provinces with a population of 448,544 people as of 2020 (Ramesar & Tattrie, 2021). As of 2016, more than 37,200 of Halifax's residents were immigrants, refugees, or migrants with less than 20,000 other newcomers living outside of the urban centre (Ramesar & Tattrie, 2021).

Researcher Reflexivity

Reflexivity is an integral component of qualitative research, whereby the researcher "positions' themselves" in the context of the research (Creswell & Poth, 2018, p.229). The researcher must understand their own "biases, values, and experiences" which are part of the research study (Creswell & Poth, 2018, p.229). Reflexivity is a continuous process of self-reflection, and self-evaluation. The researcher must be aware of how their personal attributes such as identity, perspectives, and biases could potentially impact all stages of research (McCabe & Holmes, 2009). Outlining these characteristics allows readers of the research study to understand how these elements may have influenced the researcher's interpretations and findings.

It is important to note that I am a Caucasian woman born and raised in Nova Scotia. I do not have any experience living as a refugee, I do not speak Arabic, and I am not Muslim. Because of this, I am a distinct outsider to the population under study. I acknowledge that I will never be able to fully understand the experiences of resettled refugee mothers as I have never been in their position. However, I was motivated to begin this research after working in private refugee sponsorship for several years. During this time the organization was responsible for coordinating access to healthcare services for a new Syrian refugee family, which included a postpartum mother. Clients of our organization experienced a number of challenges, including lack of transportation, limited affordable and available translators, and difficulties navigating services. After experiencing these barriers as a volunteer provider, I wanted to understand more about the lived experiences of refugee women accessing services during the postnatal period.

Though I am still an outsider to the community under study, efforts were made to ensure this study's objectives and methods were appropriate and of benefit to resettled refugee women. When developing this research proposal, I met with several community stakeholders including Arabic-speaking obstetricians with significant experience caring for resettled Syrian refugee women, community health workers in refugee resettlement, and volunteer doulas to identify areas of research that would benefit the community and to ensure research methods were appropriate and feasible. After receiving ethics approval for the study, an English- and Arabic-speaking research assistant with lived experience as a newcomer was hired as an interpreter to allow participants to share their experiences in their preferred language (Arabic). The interpreter also acted as a cultural liaison, providing feedback on recruitment materials, interview guides, and data interpretation.

Study Population

Participants were Syrian women who came to Canada as a refugee and had a child in Halifax Nova Scotia within the previous five years. Given the financial and time constraints of the project, only one refugee women from one country of origin was selected to participate.

Participant Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

There were five inclusion criteria as follows: (1) Participants must have been at least six weeks postpartum (to ensure that they have had time to attempt to or use services or supports). (2) Women must have had their baby in Nova Scotia within the previous five years in order to provide information on current or recently available services/supports. (3) Women must have spoken Arabic (as we did not have a Kurdish or Armenian translator) and have entered Canada as a refugee. (4) Participants must have originated from Syria and (5) Finally, participants had to be living in the Halifax Regional Municipality as the focus of the study is on access to services in the urban areas of Halifax.

Sampling and Recruitment

The number of participants needed for a qualitative research study remains highly debated. Wuest (2012, p.235) suggests that a masters-level study using grounded theory methodology can be successfully conducted with 10 to 15 participants—largely owing to the financial and time constraints of a two-year program. Therefore, a recruitment goal of 10-15 participants was set. In total, 11 women participated in this research study.

Several methods were used to recruit participants for this research. First, a gatekeeping method of recruitment was used. Gatekeeping methods of recruitment have been successfully implemented in other research studies seeking to recruit newcomer women (e.g., Asanin & Wilson, 2008; Campbell, Klei, Hodges, Fisman, & Kitto, 2014; Guruge, Roche, & Catallo, 2012; Higginbottom et al., 2016). A local community-based organization, the Volunteer Doula Program at the Chebucto Family Centre, agreed to contact any clients who fit the inclusion criteria of the study (Appendix J for a letter of support). Program staff connected with potential participants and informed them of the study. Information on the study was provided to the women by program staff through an electronic poster (Appendix E).

Second, the primary investigator emailed select community-based organizations (e.g., Veith House, the Refugee Clinic, YMCA), health clinics (e.g., Newcomer Health Clinic), and private refugee sponsorship organizations (e.g., Open Harbour Refugee Association) in the Halifax Regional Municipality who were involved in caring or providing healthcare services for Syrian refugee women (see Appendix B). The email asked if community staff member were able/interested in helping to distribute recruitment posters to any of their organization's clients who fit the inclusion criteria of the study (see Appendix E). If yes, the organization was emailed electronic copies of the poster for distribution. Last, study specific social media accounts were created to distribute the poster to a broader audience. Community organizations were also asked to share or retweet the study poster and information through their accounts (see Appendix K for a sample Tweet/Facebook descriptor).

All recruitment and study materials were made available in both English and Arabic. Any translated materials were verified by a second interpreter to ensure the accuracy of the translation. The recruitment poster instructed interested participants to contact an Arabic-speaking research assistant (RA). An Arabic-speaking RA was hired to schedule interviews and interpret interviews, as the primary investigator does not speak Arabic. The RA was paid and trained on the study by the primary investigator and signed a confidentiality form (Appendix A).

Data Collection Setting

Interviews were conducted over Teams through the "in-person" video call option, or via a 3-way conference call. Women were asked to find a quiet, private space in their home to complete the interview.

Data Collection Procedure

Potential participants who were interested in the study contacted the Arabic-speaking RA via email or phone. The study was explained to potential participants and their interview was scheduled. Women were asked whether they wanted to conduct a video call or phone call (through teleconferencing software to allow both the PI and interpreter to join the call). Participants were emailed copies of the consent form in advance (in Arabic) for their review. Participants also received a reminder call or email (depending on their preference) one day before their interview (see Appendix L). Participants were sent the relevant information to join the video or phone call.

The primary investigator and the Arabic interpreter completed interviews with participants over Microsoft Teams or over the phone. The interpreter began by verbally

reviewing the consent form with each participant (see Appendix F). The participant was asked to provide verbal consent, which was then recorded by the primary investigator, who signed and dated the consent form indicating that verbal consent from the participant had been received. After consent was obtained, the participants were asked a few demographic questions (see Appendix G). A short descriptor of the study was read to participants by the interpreter before the interview began. All participants consented to being audio-recorded. The interviews were led by the primary investigator, with the interpreter translating all questions and necessary responses into Arabic. Following the completion of the interview, the participants were asked if they would like to receive a list of services and supports for postpartum health (made available in Arabic, Appendix J). If yes, the list was mailed to participants in addition to an honorarium in the form of a \$20 gift card.

Data Analysis

Audio-recordings were transcribed verbatim and translated into English by the same interpreter who was present for all interviews. The translated interviews were read a number of times to familiarize the primary researcher with its content. Any experiences shared related to postpartum experiences during the COVID-19 pandemic were isolated, analyzed separately, and reported in Manuscript 2 (Chapter 4). All pre-COVID data were analysed first and are included in Manuscript 1 (Chapter 3). Line-by-line coding was completed wherein each concept was given a key idea. Key ideas were organized into preliminary categories. Constant comparative analysis was used to identify similarities and differences between and within categories, after which related subcategories were collapsed into themes and subthemes through focused coding (e.g., theme: structural

barriers, subthemes: childcare, transportation, language and communication).

Collaborative team meetings were held throughout the coding process to provide feedback and question the first author (Stirling Cameron) on the analysis. The research assistant who interpreted and transcribed all interviews (Kuri) reviewed final themes and associated quotes to ensure the results were grounded in the original data and reflected the experiences of the participants.

Data Retention

Once the study is over all data will be kept for five years before being physically destroyed. During this time any hard copies of forms or hard drives with electronic files will be kept in a locked cabinet at Dalhousie University. Any documents will be password protected and kept on password protected hard drives. All data and participant information will be kept in a locked cabinet.

Quality and Rigour

Guba and Lincoln (1985) describe four key components of trustworthiness which assesses the rigor of qualitative research data: credibility, transferability, dependability, and transferability. Corbin and Strauss (2008) posit that at least two components must be evident in a study in order for a study be rigorous.

A critical component of credibility is the development of trust between the researcher and participants (Bradshaw et al., 2017; Krefting, 1991). Several steps were taken to ensure the credibility or truthfulness of the research study. An Arabic interpreter who has lived experience as a newcomer was hired to support the research study. Participants were also recruited through local community groups who are well known to the population.

The confirmability of a study refers to its ability to be grounded within the participant's data. A reflective journal was used to track when and why changes were made to the study and its methods and to track the data collection and analysis (Bradshaw, Atkinson, & Doody, 2017). Memoing was undertaken by the researcher throughout the analysis process to form an audit trail (Cresswell & Poth, 2018). Direct quotes were included in the final written report and publications to provide evidence for the themes/sub-themes developed by the researcher. The same interpreter who was present at all interviews reviewed the developed coding schemes and final reports/publications to ensure the analysis appropriately reflected participants' experiences. All of these steps helped to ensure that the interpretation of the data was accurate and that the experiences of the participants have been expressed as accurately as possible.

Ethical Considerations

Risks and Benefits

The risks associated with taking part in this research were expected to be minimal given that interview questions focused on access to healthcare and informal support, however, it was possible that taking part in this research study could cause psychological distress or discomfort. Participants were told that they could refuse to answer any questions that made them feel uncomfortable and that they could withdraw from the interview at any time. Participants had up to two weeks after their interview to withdraw their data and remove it from the study. They were also told that not participating in the study would not impact their ability to use any services provided by partnering community organizations (e.g., ISANS, The Chebucto Family Centre).

Participants in this study may experience direct or indirect benefits as a result of taking part in this study. Participants had the opportunity to share their experiences accessing postnatal services and supports. Having the chance to voice one's opinions, be valued as an expert, and collaborate with researchers can be empowering for participants (Gibbs, 1997; Goss & Leinbach, 1996; Race et al., 1994). Results from this study may have the potential to create change to programs or policy in Nova Scotia. Scholarly publications may contribute to further advancements in the field of access to healthcare for refugee populations in Canada.

Informed Consent

Informed consent was free, informed, and ongoing. Gatekeepers were instructed to inform participants that they were under no obligation to take part in the research study and that deciding not to participate would not impact their access to services in any way. The study was explained in full, orally, by the interpreter in Arabic in addition to women receiving a written copy of the consent. The researcher stated that participation in the study was completely voluntary and that the participant was under no obligation to take part in the study. Participants were given the opportunity to ask any questions before providing oral consent.

Privacy and Confidentiality

The interpreter was privy to participants' personal information (e.g., full name, email) but was required to sign a confidentiality form before viewing any identifiable data (Appendix A). The researcher signed and dated a form indicating that they had obtained verbal consent from the participant. Verbal consent was obtained prior to the interview. The researcher completed a verbal consent form for each participant in this

study so that no name or signature was collected from any participant to protect their identity. Any identifying information, such as clinic names, children's names, locations, were removed from the transcripts. Any communication directly with participants took place through a study-specific email address and designated toll-free phone line. The study email account was deleted after data collection was completed.

Chapter Three Summary

This study took a qualitative approach, using elements of grounded theory, to collect information on the lived experiences of Syrian refugee women living in Nova Scotia who have accessed or attempted to access formal services or informal supports during the postnatal period. 11 women were purposefully selected via a gatekeeping method of recruitment. Findings from the research project will be shared in academic and community circles, to contribute to the field of research in refugee maternal healthcare and to inform policy and program delivery in Nova Scotia.

Chapter Three: Manuscript One

"I really needed my family:" Syrian refugee women's experiences accessing postnatal health services and social support in Nova Scotia, Canada

Submitted to Midwifery on April 22, 2021

Emma Stirling Cameron

Megan Aston

Howard Ramos

Marwa Kuri

Lois Jackson

Abstract

Aim: The purpose of this qualitative study was to understand Syrian refugee women's perceptions and experiences of access to formal health services and informal supports during the postpartum period in Nova Scotia, Canada and to identify valued and missing services and supports in the community.

Background: The postnatal period is a critical time when mothers may need access to health services (e.g., family physicians, psychologists) and informal supports (e.g., friends, family) to support their positive mental and physical health after birth.

Resettled refugee women commonly encounter barriers when accessing care during the postnatal period and often have limited social supports.

Methods: Semi-structured, telephone or virtual interviews were conducted with 11 resettled Syrian refugee women who gave birth in Nova Scotia, Canada within the past five years. Data were collected in the summer of 2020. This study was conducted using elements of grounded theory.

Findings: Four key themes were identified from women's experiences: (i) postpartum social support was critical, but often lacking, (ii) structural barriers (e.g., irregular interpretation, limited childcare options) impeded women's access to healthcare, (iii) paternalistic healthcare providers limited women's decision-making autonomy, and (iv) the value and need for culturally competent care (e.g., newcomer specific healthcare centres), in-home services, and family support.

Conclusions: Resettled Syrian refugee women in Nova Scotia, Canada, experience a range of barriers that limits their access to postnatal healthcare. Policy change, program

development, and/or interventions are needed to improve access to postnatal services and supports for resettled Syrian women.

Introduction

In 2019, Canada was the number one refugee-admitting country in the world, (UNHCR, 2020c) resettling approximately 45,000 Syrian refugees between 2015 and 2020 (Government of Canada, 2019c). Large proportions of resettled Syrian refugee women are pregnant, postnatal (have given birth within the past 12 months), or have a young family and are in need of accessible reproductive healthcare (IRCC, 2021; Ross, 2017). During the postnatal period, mothers need access to health services and informal supports to help with a variety of psychosocial and physical health concerns (Brown & Lumley, 1998; Higginbottom et al., 2014). Yet access to postnatal healthcare and informal support remains a challenge for resettled refugee women in Canada (Higginbottom et al., 2016; Khanlou et al., 2017; O'Mahony et al., 2012).

The postnatal period is a critical time when all mothers need access to maternal healthcare and informal supports (Aston et al., 2018; Thompson et al., 2002). Nearly 95% of all women report experiencing one or more maternal health concerns within the first six months of childbirth, including mastitis, caesarian site pain, postpartum depression, and social isolation (Brown & Lumley, 1998). Untreated health problems are directly related to a decrease in women's emotional wellbeing and functional abilities, including an inability to care for their infant or return to work (Webb et al., 2008). Timely and effective postpartum healthcare provided by formal healthcare professionals (e.g., family physicians, midwives, psychologists) can prevent or improve short- and long-term consequences of health morbidities (Haran et al., 2014). In addition to the availability of formal health services, informal supports provided by partners, family, friends, or

community contribute to maternal self-efficacy and boosts emotional wellbeing in mothers (Leahy-Warren et al., 2012; WHO, 2005; Xie et al., 2009).

Resettled refugee women report experiencing a myriad of barriers when attempting to access healthcare services after birth, often as a result of the complex reality resettled refugee women experience (Heslehurst et al., 2018; Khanlou et al., 2017; Peláez et al., 2017). Language and cultural differences between women and care providers, unavailability of interpreters, and limited access to childcare and transportation can contribute to missed or delayed appointments (Heslehurst et al., 2018; Khanlou et al., 2017; Riggs et al., 2012). Moreover, experiences of discrimination and culturally insensitive care can negatively influence women's trust and future engagement with the healthcare system (Heslehurst et al., 2018; Khanlou et al., 2017). Many refugee women have reduced social networks upon arriving in their resettlement country, resulting in lower levels of available informal supports during the postnatal period (Higginbottom et al., 2016).

Disrupted access to healthcare and limited supports during the postpartum period contribute to health inequities among resettled refugee women, when compared to Canadian-born women. Resettled refugee women are more likely to have poorer postpartum health status (Ganann et al., 2012) and a greater number of unmet physical and mental health concerns compared to Canadian-born women (Gagnon et al., 2013). Resettled refugee women with social networks containing fewer women, relatives, and people from their own ethnic background are more likely to experience high rates of depressive symptoms and postpartum depression (Zelkowitz et al., 2004). The accessibility of formal healthcare services and the availability of informal supports is

crucial for supporting refugee mothers during the postnatal period. Impaired access to postpartum healthcare for resettled refugee women is an issue of reproductive justice—a fundamental human right that demands equitable access to reproductive care, regardless of one's immigration status, or ethnicity.

The purpose of this study was to understand the lived experiences of access to postnatal services and supports among refugee women who have resettled in Nova Scotia Canada. This study had two objectives. First, to identify women's experiences of barriers and/or facilitators to formal maternal healthcare services and informal supports during the postnatal period. Second, to outline what existing formal services and informal supports are perceived to be most valuable by resettled Syrian refugee women and what, if any, services or supports are needed. This study is one of few to bring forward the first-person perspectives of resettled Syrian refugee women in the context of the Canadian healthcare system (Ahmed et al., 2017; Guruge et al., 2018; Winn et al., 2018).

Methods

Methodology

This qualitative research study was conducted using elements of constructivist grounded theory. The practices of grounded theory (GT), first developed by Glaser and Strauss (1967), are designed to aid the researcher in developing a set of concepts that explain a social phenomenon under study (Corbin & Strauss, 1990). GT is an approach often taken to better contextualize an understudied phenomenon or experience (Wuest, 2012) whereby researchers scrutinize their own preconceptions and constructions as part of the analysis (Charmaz, 2014). The purpose of utilizing grounded theory for this research was not to develop a theory, but to use techniques of GT (e.g., thick and rich

description, line-by-line coding, constant comparisons) to analyse participants' experiences accessing postnatal services and supports and develop a comprehensive understanding of the phenomenon (Corbin & Strauss, 2015).

Recruitment and Procedure

Women were recruited through community centres, health clinics, and private sponsorship organizations within one urban area. Arabic and English versions of recruitment posters were distributed through the groups' social media, websites, email networks, and/or social media platforms. A designated research assistant who was fluent in Arabic was hired to assist with recruitment and interpretation. All recruitment and data collection materials were drafted and reviewed by two separate English- and Arabicspeaking research assistants to ensure an accurate translation. Interested participants contacted by a bilingual research assistant who confirmed eligibility. Participants selected whether they wanted to complete a telephone interview or a video call (Microsoft Teams), and then scheduled a time for the call. Women were eligible to take part in the study if they had a child within the last five years and were at least six-months postpartum. Women were emailed a copy of the consent form in advance of the interview in both Arabic and English. A recruitment goal of 10-15 women was set (Wuest, 2012). Before beginning the interview, the interpreter reviewed the consent form and verbal consent was recorded. This was done in lieu of signed consent to alleviate the burden on participants to print, sign, and scan, or electronically sign and email a consent form. Participants were then asked a series of demographic questions (e.g., marital status, number of children, years spent in Canada) before conducting the interview. The interview guide was comprised of a series of open-ended questions, that were guided by

the literature and suggestions from community stakeholders (e.g., Did you use any health or wellness services (e.g., family doctor, counsellor, doula) the first year after giving birth? Did you have any friends or family to support you after birth? If yes, who? How did they support you?). Eleven women completed individual, audio-recorded interviews during the months of August and September 2020. Seven of the eleven women had given birth to a child before and during the COVID-19 pandemic. Only the pre-COVID experiences are reported here. The experiences of women who had a child or were postnatal during COVID-19 will be reported in a separate paper (Stirling Cameron, Ramos, et al., 2021).

Analysis

Audio-recordings were transcribed verbatim and translated into English by the same interpreter who was present for all interviews. The translated interviews were read a number of times to familiarize the researchers with its content. Line-by-line coding was completed wherein each concept was given a key idea. Key ideas were organized into preliminary categories. Constant comparative analysis was used to identify similarities and differences between and within categories, after which related subcategories were collapsed into themes and subthemes (e.g., theme: structural barriers, subthemes: childcare, transportation, language and communication). Collaborative team meetings were held throughout the coding process to support the first author (Stirling Cameron) through analysis. The research assistant who interpreted and transcribed all interviews (Kuri) reviewed final themes and associated quotes to ensure the results were grounded in the original data and reflected the experiences of the participants. Coding was completed using QSR International's NVivo 12 software (QSR International Pty Ltd., 2021).

Results

Select details of participants' socio-demographics are included in Table 1. All eleven participants were married, spoke Arabic as their preferred language, and originated from Syria. Women had between two and eight children (M = 4.91, SD=1.87) and arrived between 2016 and 2018. Nine arrived through the government-assisted resettlement program, and two were privately sponsored. Four main themes emerged from the data: the importance of social support; impact of structural barriers on access to and quality of care; presence of provider paternalism; and valued and missing services. It is important to note that women in this study included labour and delivery as part of their discussion of the postnatal period, and therefore presentation of data includes such discussion.

The Importance of Social Support

Familial separation and the availability of informal support. Every participant described feelings of homesickness and isolation, especially within the first few years of arriving in Canada. All women had been separated from members of their extended family through the process of international resettlement. Their absence was felt strongly during the postpartum period. One participant noted, "It was hard for me to give birth when I had none of my family around me... I haven't seen my family in 10 years." (Participant 1). Women described the ways in which their family (mothers, sisters) had supported them through previous births, by preparing meals, taking care of other children, cleaning, offering advice and providing infant care. "In Syria it was better than here because I had my family, my mom to support and help me." (Participant 8). Women spoke at length about how valuable informal support from their family was and how

difficult it was to care for their baby without them, "I am lonely, my family is not with me. I was in a lot of pain and I had no one to help me when the baby was crying."

(Participant 2).

Though all women in this study had been separated from members of their family, several participants were able to find similar forms of support from other women who had also resettled in Nova Scotia. Participants spoke of friends and neighbours of a similar ethnic, cultural, or religious background who were described like a chosen family. These friends were able to provide similar types of informal support, that had previously been provided by family, "They were cooking for us, they brought us food. One of my neighbours was helping me clean the home. They helped me with my baby boy as well. They would bathe him, dress him, they were really supportive and helpful." (Participant 4). Not all women, however, had supportive friends available. Many women did not have any local connections and reported feeling particularly isolated and alienated. For these participants their only support person was their husband, "Here I have no one. My husband and I have no relatives or family here with us... We have no friends." (Participant 9). Even when friends were available to provide informal support, most women felt uncomfortable asking for help, recognizing that these friends had to care for their own families. As one woman said, "They are not always available as they have their own families and kids to take care of... I am very considerate and understand how busy they are." (Participant 1). Participants clearly articulated that the comfort and ease they felt with family was irreplaceable, even by close friends.

The impacts of isolation on women's mental and physical health. Women linked the separation from their extended family and low levels of informal support to

particular mental and physical health challenges after birth. Many participants described how difficult it was to cope with postpartum blues/depression, in addition to the emotional stress caused by resettlement and separation from their family: "It was the first year I had ever been away from my family. I was depressed." (Participant 3). Others described feeling "highly stressed," "lonely," "isolated," and "exhausted." Women cited mothers and sisters as key confidants and sources of emotional support and strength and missed being able to visit with them in-person. Some women were able to connect with their family virtually though video or telephone calls or instant messaging, but family members' access to technology and electricity was often limited. One participant noted, "The internet is very bad in Syria. They only have electricity for two hours a day. That is why it is almost impossible to talk to my sister." (Participant 5). Several women had seen mental health professionals in Canada but did not finish treatment or felt that it was "pointless." One woman saw a mental health professional for seven months before stopping; "I am isolated and homesick and the circumstances we are going through, no one would help or change them. I am so far away from my family. How could they [health professionals] help with that?" (Participant #).

For several women, a lack of social support had an impact on their physical functioning after birth. One participant described an inability to prepare food which resulted in a decrease in milk production: "I found it very hard to prepare food. When I bought any meals, my milk would become scarce, it was really hard on me." (Participant 2). Several women who had given birth previously and had support felt that their recovery was delayed and impaired because they had to cook, care for their other children, etc. Two participants felt their caesarean site healed more slowly: "In Syria, I

swear, after the fourth or fifth day after the cesarian I was able to get around. Here it took me two months and I was in a lot of pain." (Participant 2). Participant nine had a similar experience: "With my other kids, I would be fully functioning only one week after birth, but with this last baby it took me a month and I could still barely cook a small meal of rice." (Participant 9).

Access and Quality of Healthcare Influenced by Structural Barriers

Language and communication differences. Barriers to healthcare as a result of language and communication differences were mentioned by every participant in this study. All participants spoke Arabic as their first language and were largely reliant on interpretation services for at least their first several years in Canada. One participant explained, "When we arrived in Canada, we could not speak any English except for hello and hi, yes and no. We started from zero here." (Participant 5). There were often delays to getting interpretation services: "I went to the emergency room and had to wait for six hours just to get an interpreter." (Participant 9). This same participant called 811 for medical advice and was told, "they would get back to me in three or four hours with an interpreter." Participants also spoke about feeling "shy" or "uncomfortable" sharing their medical history through an interpreter, especially if they were male.

Interpretation was commonly provided in-person, but in some situations, was provided over the phone. Some women noted that although telephone interpretation was better than not having any service, in-person translation was preferable: "When the interpreter is there with me, she sees me, my facial expressions, if she feels that I am not doing well she notices and asks what is going on, but with the interpreter over the phone, they can't see me, they can't notice if I am distressed or tired." (Participant 5). Where

interpreters were not provided, women relied on husbands, friends, or their own children to translate. Some women did not have access to any kind of interpreter and described these interactions as "traumatizing," "very hard" and "frightening." One participant was forced to labour and deliver without an interpreter, and in the end, did not receive any pain management as a result of the language barrier: "I desperately tried to tell them that I wanted an epidural. I tried to explain to the doctor and doula by pointing to my back, but they could not understand. They thought I wanted them to massage my back. I suffered a lot. I was in labour for eight hours... I just cried." (Participant 7). Women also reported finding it challenging to understand referrals and treatment instructions, prescription drug information, and had trouble booking and scheduling medical appointments over the phone.

Challenges obtaining childcare. Women described having difficulties finding affordable, trustworthy childcare in the absence of family. "Here I have no one, no family, no parents who would help me take care of my kids." (Participant 11). Some women reported missing healthcare appointments because they did not have access to childcare. One participant declined visiting a psychiatrist, because of limited childcare: "I seriously considered it, but my kids were little, and I had no one to take care of them." (Participant 5). Similarly, other participants said they felt reluctant to visit the emergency room because of lengthy wait times and no childcare. Several participants were forced to bring their children with them to the hospital while they laboured and delivered. One of these participants paid \$200 for a private room in the hospital where her children could sleep while she gave birth. Participant 7 described how distressing it was to have her children present during delivery: "It was so hard on me because I didn't know where I

would leave my kids, so I took them with me to the hospital. The hospital remembers my case still. That is why I was so upset, because my kids had to be with me in the birth room. It was a tough time." Several participants used volunteer doulas to accompany them to their delivery so their husbands could stay home with their other children; though grateful for this service, many participants said they would have preferred their husbands with them and their children safe in childcare.

Transportation challenges and lack of proximity to services. High proportions of newcomer families are dependent on income assistance for the first few years of resettlement.(IRCC, 2019) Participants described limited income support to buy a vehicle, meaning some women were reliant on public transport to access health services. Most participants also lived outside the city centre and had to take three-to-four different buses to get to health clinics and hospitals. Dependence on public transportation was linked to delayed or missed medical appointments: "When we first arrived in Canada, we suffered a lot using buses. That's why we missed many doctors' appointments."

(Participant 1). Snowy roads and winter conditions exacerbated these challenges. In cases where families had a car, many women did not have a licence and were dependent on their husbands to drive them to appointments.

Provider Paternalism and Women's Decision-Making Autonomy

Multiple participants described negative interactions with their healthcare providers where they felt as if their decision-making autonomy was limited and the choices concerning their care were not recognized. These interactions often meant women felt disrespected, frustrated, and caused feelings of mistrust with providers.

Participant nine described an encounter with her family physician where her appointment with a psychiatrist was cancelled without her consent:

"In a meeting with my family doctor, she said that I was fine and there was no need for me to see a [mental health professional]. She said I knew how to care for my baby and there is no need to see someone. [Doctor] cancelled my appointment... I was very upset and disappointed because she didn't know what I went through and how I felt. She wronged me, I needed her to listen to me... I really needed to see a mental health professional so they could help me."

An interpreter was present for this appointment. At the time of the interview this participant was still struggling with feelings of depression and had not seen a psychologist, fearing her family physician would again deny her a referral.

In a similar experience, participant seven felt as though her decision-making autonomy concerning infant feeding was disregarded. This participant had chosen not to breastfeed after having encountered significant problems breastfeeding with her previous babies. She requested formula and was told "breast is best," and that she must at least try to breastfeed.

"I told them my babies refuse to breastfeed from me... So they sent me a nurse to help me with breastfeeding. She tried and tried but it didn't work. They contacted the doula and sent her to me to help me to breastfeed... She brought a pumping machine. This machine caused inflammation in my breasts... I suffered a lot. I told them he won't want to breastfeed, but they insisted on trying to get him to breastfeed. I had 4 babies before, and I know how my babies refuse to breastfeed."

It wasn't until she was told to "go to the hospital... because of serious inflammation" that her choice to use formula was supported by her healthcare providers. This participant felt extremely frustrated, feeling like her expertise as a mother of five was not recognised.

Participant two described a visit with her obstetrician, who criticized and questioned her family planning decisions after giving birth, questioning the practices of her religion: "[Doctor] offered me to go through [tubal ligation] so I won't have more babies. Of course, I refused but he insisted on asking why I'm refusing... I told him I'm Muslim and my religion forbids this, and it is not acceptable to me. He kept asking questions and said if it is forbidden why is it okay to use contraceptives? He has no right to interfere with my personal life and the number of kids I would like to have... The way he treated me wasn't good." Similarly to the other participants, this woman was felt chastised, and unsupported by her care provider.

Valued and Missing Postnatal Health Services and Supports

Valued services and supports. Many participants were satisfied with healthcare services in Nova Scotia, and were grateful for the care available, particularly in contrast to their previous birthing experiences in Syria. Participant five said, "I gave birth to my second and third child during the war. My experience in Syria was hard beyond description... Medically, we had nothing there, no medications and no services. I couldn't feel the joy and the calmness that mothers feel after they delivered. The first thing we thought about was is how to get milk and diapers. But here, I didn't need to worry."

The majority of the participants in this study used a refugee-specific health clinic for the first few years after arriving in Canada. Given the current family physician

shortage in Nova Scotia, (Nova Scotia Health, 2021a) this was a critical service that helped bridge the gap while women waited to locate and transition to a long-term primary care provider in the community. Women reported that the clinic almost always provided interpretation services, and the care provided was culturally appropriate/sensitive. Participant three described her family physician at the clinic, "Honestly I wish I could stay with this doctor at the refugee clinic because she is excellent. [Doctor] is really famous and is an amazing doctor."

Doulas were also a critical support service for a number of participants. Many women were referred to a local volunteer doula program which assigns doulas to patients before delivery, at no cost. Doulas often met women in their homes before their due dates to build trust and rapport and offer support (e.g., health system navigation, emotional support). By providing interpretation and home visits, the program by-passed structural barriers, such as finding transportation and childcare, and language differences. Often, the same doula continued to accompany women to their delivery and checked in after the birth. "I met the doula one month before I delivered... She didn't leave me when I delivered my daughter. She stayed with me in the hospital. I was happy to have the doula because for me, I do have many friends, but I had no one to accompany me to the hospital." (Participant 5). Some women suggested it would be helpful for "the doula to come more frequently" (Participant 9) after birth, to provide informal support.

Several participants in this study arrived through Canada's private sponsorship program and found its approach beneficial. Private sponsorship organizations support resettled families for 12 months, providing financial, educational, and social supports.(Refugee Sponsorship Training Program, 2021) As most private sponsorship

groups are small, volunteer organizations, they are able to provide tailored, individualized care to families. Participants in this study who had arrived under this program stated that members of their sponsorship organizations helped fill part of the void caused by separation from family. Private organizations often provided a high level of informal support: cooking meals, providing childcare and transportation, and donating baby clothes and furniture: "They shopped for me, delivered groceries to our home. They booked appointments with doctors for me. They helped me with everything. I can't do things without them... They are my family here." (Participant 3)

Missing supports. None of the participants indicated that there were any services missing during their postpartum period. However, every participant stated that they were missing the supports provided by their extended family. Participant seven said, "I wish I had someone from my family, my sister or any relative of mine. If something bad happens to me, I know that my kids would be safe with my brother or sister. We are happy here, but we are missing our families. Everyone here needs family."

Discussion

The purpose of this study was to understand Syrian women's perspectives around access to formal health services and informal supports during the postpartum period in Nova Scotia, Canada. The social challenges commonly experienced by resettled refugees—separation from family, socioeconomic barriers, limited English language proficiency, and cultural dissonances—negatively impacted Syrian refugee women's access to healthcare and support during the postpartum period; an already demanding time for new mothers. Women in our study had varied postpartum experiences but many described limited social support during this time, irregular language interpretation,

limited access to childcare and transportation, and issues concerning medical autonomy, all of which contributed to inequitable access to reproductive care.

Informal social support is a critical component of a positive postpartum period for mothers of all backgrounds (Hung & Chung, 2001; Negron et al., 2013; Xie et al., 2009). Most participants in this study described the ways in which their extended family, especially mothers and sisters, had previously supported them, allowing women to heal and recuperate after birth. This support was absent for all participants when in Canada, which contributed to feelings of loss and isolation. Similar sentiments have been reported by other postnatal refugee and immigrant women in Canada (Ahmed et al., 2017; Higginbottom et al., 2016; Higginbottom et al., 2014; O'Mahony et al., 2012). Some participants in our study were able to mitigate some of these feelings through local support networks (e.g., private sponsorship organizations) and their nuclear family (Stewart et al., 2017). Some women in this study felt as though a lack of in-person familial support contributed to worsened mental health and slower recovery times. Other research has found that limited support can result in delayed or irregular access to healthcare (Higginbottom et al., 2016), increased stress and decreased emotional wellbeing (Quintanilha et al., 2016). Resettled Syrian women in this study confirmed the importance of informal support but cited its limited availability as a critical gap.

Language and communication challenges were significant drivers for negative healthcare experiences. Effective communication during labour and delivery is essential, and for many resettled refugee women, may only be achievable through an interpreter or interpretation service (Henry et al., 2020; Origlia Ikhilor et al., 2019). Failure to provide interpretation during labour and delivery led, for one woman in our study, to inadequate

pain management, anxiety, and birthing-related trauma. Previous studies have highlighted similar traumatic experiences among perinatal women in resettlement countries (Henry et al., 2020; Origlia Ikhilor et al., 2019). Inadequate interpretation can contribute to high rates of miscommunication and undermines the fundamental concept of informed consent and patient-centred care (Henry et al., 2020; Origlia Ikhilor et al., 2019). Henry et al., 2020 posits that the healthcare system's failure to freely and consistently provide interpretation should be seen as a form of institutional discrimination and should ultimately be viewed as structural violence. This systemic failure leaves newcomer women and their children vulnerable to being misunderstood, improperly diagnosed, and their health mismanaged.

Structural barriers have been widely cited as drivers of health inequity for resettled refugee women (Gagnon et al., 2010; Gagnon et al., 2013; Higginbottom et al., 2016). Our study and other studies demonstrate how access to healthcare remains largely an individual responsibility shaped by availability of social and financial capital; the onus remains largely on the individual to obtain not the healthcare system. As a high proportion of resettled refugees are dependent on income assistance—upwards of 93% of Syrian refugees depend on income assistance for their first year in Canada— and have reduced social networks after arrival (IRCC, 2019), this population is vulnerable to inequitable reproductive care during the postnatal period (Henry et al., 2020; Higginbottom et al., 2014).

Obstetrics and reproductive healthcare have a long history of paternalism which has particularly impacted women of colour (Roberts, 1997). Women in this study described encounters within the healthcare system in which decisions were made about

their care with which they did not agree, or where their medical autonomy was not recognized. Not only are refugee women at risk of encountering racial, religious, and gender-based discrimination, they may also experience prejudice related to their immigration status from healthcare providers. Providers may lack cultural competency, possess implicit or explicit biases, or perpetuate harmful stereotypes. Despite the presence of language barriers, providers must work to overcome their prejudices (whether they are cognisant of them or not) and support women to make their own informed choices. Few studies have examined reproductive liberty and healthcare decision-making among refugee women; future work is needed to better understand this important intersection (Ross, 2017).

Women in our study reported feeling that their postpartum care was supported by a local newcomer health clinic—a primary healthcare facility specifically constructed to care for former refugees. Newcomer or refugee-specific healthcare centres or clinics are often designed holistically to meet the unique needs of former refugees, sometimes offering interpretation, childcare, transportation, social supports, and culturally competent providers (Chan et al., 2018). Similarly, the holistic care and informal support provided by doulas were viewed positively. This freely available service was accessible for a number of women, as doulas were often accompanied by interpreters and could travel to women's homes, thus alleviating the need for women to obtain transportation and childcare. Several participants were also able to substitute missing family with networks of friends and private sponsorship groups. Though friends were not able to replace biological family, they offered informal support in similar ways, by cooking, offering emotional support and advice, and providing childcare.

Implications

Our study, in conjunction with previous research, demonstrates a need for policy change that increases and improves resettled refugee women's access to quality reproductive healthcare during the postpartum period. In some instances, informal supports are lacking for resettled women, which can be particularity impactful during the postnatal period. Future interventions and program development should target this area. This could be achieved by bolstering in-home supports (e.g., doulas, especially Arabicspeaking women; LaMancuso et al., 2016) patient navigation programming (Yee et al., 2017), and mother and baby community groups (Aching & Granato, 2018; Guest & Keatinge, 2009). It is evident that interpreters serve an essential role; failure to have them readily available during obstetrical procedures can result in traumatic and potentially dangerous birthing experiences (Henry et al., 2020). Institutions must consider policy change to ensure interpreters or interpretation services are readily available in order to ensure equitable service delivery. This language barrier could be more holistically mitigated by training and hiring culturally and linguistically diverse healthcare providers to more appropriately represent the patient population of Canada. Finally, healthcare providers and students must participate in accessible, anti-racist, cultural competency training that promotes patient-centredness and shared decision-making to improve the quality of care resettled refugee women experience (Stapleton et al., 2013).

Limitations

Several limitations of our study should be noted. First, recruitment for this research project was largely achieved through community and healthcare organizations. It is possible that women not connected with any of our recruitment groups/organizations

were not interviewed. By advertising the study recruitment on social media (independent of organizations), the team hoped to reach individuals not formally connected to any recruitment groups. All analyses were conducted based on English translations of the interviews, as the lead researcher does not speak Arabic. It is possible that particular sentiments or experiences could not be accurately maintained through the translation. However, the translator worked closely with the first author to review parts of the interviews where the Arabic to English translation was not straight-forward. In future, a second translator could be employed to verify the accuracy of the translation.

Conclusion

Reproductive justice is rooted in the belief that systemic inequities shape people's decision-making related to childbearing and parenting, particularly vulnerable women (Ross & Solinger, 2017). Institutional constructs such as racism, sexism, immigration status, and poverty influence people's individual freedoms and also affect whether people receive appropriate healthcare (Ross, 2017). These forces ultimately influence and impact the reproductive liberty of resettled Syrian refugee women. As access to reproductive healthcare remains a fundamental human right, it is crucial for researchers, clinicians, and policy makers to work collaboratively to support equitable care delivery for resettled refugee women.

Table 1. Participant demographic characteristics for Manuscript 1

Selected socio-demographic characteristics	N = 11
Marital status	
Married	11 (100)
SES	
We do not have enough money for basic necessities	0 (0)
We have enough money for basic necessities, but no extras	10 (90.9)
We have enough money to buy extra things beyond necessities, at least sometimes	0
Prefer not to answer	1 (9.1)
Number of children	
1-2	1 (9.1)
3-4	3 (27.3)
5-6	4 (36.4)
7-8	3 (27.3)
Sponsorship type	
Government assisted	9 (81.8)
Private sponsorship	2 (18.2)
Length of time in Canada in years	
2 years	1 (9.1)
3 years	1 (9.1)
4 years	9 (81.8)

Chapter Four: Manuscript 2

"COVID affected us all:" The postnatal healthcare experiences of resettled Syrian refugee women during COVID-19 in Nova Scotia, Canada

In preparation for submission to BMC Reproductive Health

Emma Stirling Cameron

Dr. Howard Ramos

Dr. Megan Aston

Marwa Kuri

Dr. Lois Jackson

Abstract

Background: Prior to COVID-19, resettled refugee women in Canada reported experiencing barriers to healthcare and low levels of social support, contributing to high rates of maternal health morbidities. The COVID-19 pandemic appears to be further exacerbating health inequities for marginalized populations—yet the experiences of resettled refugee women are not fully known. This research article reports on analyses conducted on a subset of data collected as part of a larger project seeking to understand Syrian refugee women's experiences accessing postnatal healthcare services and informal support during the postnatal period.

Methods: Qualitative interviews were conducted with resettled Syrian refugee women living in Nova Scotia (Canada) about postnatal services and supports. Eight women from the broader data set experienced part of their postpartum period during the first six month of the COVID-19 pandemic and described their experiences accessing postnatal healthcare services and informal supports between March and August 2020. Data analysis was informed by constructivist grounded theory.

Findings: Women had varied postnatal health service and support experiences during the early COVID-19 months including socially and physically isolated deliveries, difficulties accessing in-person interpreters, and cancelled or unavailable in-home services. Provincial public health stay-at-home orders and physical distancing requirements resulted in some women reporting feelings of isolation and loss, as they were unable to share in person postnatal moments with friends and family. Increased childcare responsibilities and limited informal supports left some women feeling overwhelmed and exhausted.

Conclusions: To our knowledge, this is the first Canadian study to examine the postnatal experiences of resettled refugee women during the early months of COVID-19. COVID-19 and associated public health restrictions had significant impacts on postnatal Syrian refugee women. Data presented in this study demonstrated the ways in which the pandemic environment and related restrictions amplified pre-existing barriers to care and postnatal health inequalities for resettled refugee women—particularly a lack of postnatal informal supports and systemic barriers to care. Women's mental health was stretched with the competing challenges of new motherhood, lack of support, and fear of the virus, ultimately leading to feelings of isolation, anxiety, and sadness. This study provides vital information for clinicians, policymakers, and researchers, to inform next steps in postnatal care to improve access for resettled refugee women through the rest of the pandemic and beyond.

Introduction

The postpartum period, or the first 12 months after birth, is often a complex, yet exciting time for new parents (Brown & Lumley, 1998; Thompson et al., 2002). It is a time of rapid change when mothers often require timely access to formal maternal healthcare services and informal supports to facilitate a positive transition into parenthood and support their health and the health of their child(ren) (Aston et al., 2018; Darvill et al., 2010). Access to formal health services provided by obstetricians, primary care providers, doulas, and midwives help women address potential health concerns, including mastitis, cesarian site pain/infection, heavy bleeding, and postpartum depression (Brown & Lumley, 1998; Thompson et al., 2002). The availability of informal supports from partners, family, or friends aids new mothers in balancing the competing demands of early parenthood, supports women's physical recovery, and emotional wellbeing (Emmanuel et al., 2012; Leahy-Warren et al., 2012; Negron et al., 2013). Positive socioemotional supports in the postpartum period help to mitigate against depressive symptoms and improve maternal self-efficacy (Leahy-Warren et al., 2012; Xie et al., 2009).

COVID-19 and associated public health restrictions have had a profound impact on the physical and socioemotional health of mothers across the globe (Chandler et al., 2021; Connor et al., 2020), including those who have given birth or navigated postnatal services during the pandemic (Hessami et al., 2020; Kotlar et al., 2021). Physical distancing and changes in health service provision has disrupted healthcare access for peri-and postnatal women, with non-essential appointment cancellations, new personal protective equipment requirements, and in some instances, a transition to virtual care

(Bradfield et al., 2021; Dol et al., 2020). Labour and delivery experiences have been complicated by restrictions on the presence of support people, with some women having to choose between doulas and partners or friends (Davis-Floyd et al., 2020; Dol et al., 2020; Kotlar et al., 2021). Women have often been required to attend perinatal health appointments alone (Dol et al., 2020; Kotlar et al., 2021) and were forced to cope with rapid healthcare policy changes, impacting birth plans and postnatal preparation (Bradfield et al., 2021).

In addition to disrupted healthcare access, COVID-19 restrictions and physical distancing requirements have socially isolated many postnatal women and limited their access to in-person social and informal supports (Davenport et al., 2020; Joy et al., 2020; Thapa et al., 2020). Informal supports (e.g., meal preparation, childcare, advice sharing) provided by family, friends, or community member contributes to women's postnatal health, mitigates against postpartum depressive symptoms and contributes to maternal self-efficacy (Leahy-Warren et al., 2012; Xie et al., 2009). Limited in-person social contact during the pandemic has left many new mothers isolated and overburdened (Ollivier et al., 2021). Women across the globe have also reported a decrease in their postnatal mental health. Increased rates of depressive symptoms and anxiety, extreme loneliness, isolation, and exhaustion have been reported (Davenport et al., 2020; Dol et al., 2020; Hessami et al., 2020; Kotlar et al., 2021; Ollivier et al., 2021). Opportunities to share their infant's milestones and connect with other parents has largely been restricted to online platforms (Ollivier et al., 2021). Some women have described feeling fearful around exposing their babies to COVID-19 (Dol et al., 2020; Kotlar et al., 2021).

The COVID-19 pandemic has exacerbated pre-existing challenges to accessing healthcare for resettled refugees, which is likely to widen health inequities for this population (Elisabeth et al., 2020; Germain & Yong, 2020; Kluge et al., 2020). Prior to the onset of COVID-19, refugee and migrant women were already experiencing inequities when accessing postnatal healthcare (Ahmed et al., 2008; Ganann et al., 2012; Sword et al., 2006). Resettled refugee women often encounter barriers to care related to language and cultural differences with providers, lack of interpretation services, and limited access to childcare, which contributed to missed or delayed appointments (Heslehurst et al., 2018; Khanlou et al., 2017; Riggs et al., 2012). Moreover, refugee women often reported reduced social networks upon arriving in their resettlement country, resulting in lower levels of available informal support after birth (Higginbottom et al., 2016). These challenges have contributed to a greater number of unmet physical and mental health concerns among postnatal resettled refugees, (Gagnon et al., 2013) and a five-times higher risk of developing postpartum depression, when compared to women born in their host country (Ahmed et al., 2008).

Times of crisis often reinforce and exacerbate existing disparities for marginalized populations (Kantamneni, 2020). Given the impact COVID restrictions have had on non-refugee mothers, resettled refugee women are at an even greater risk of negative postnatal experiences, as a result of their existing barriers to care (Germain & Yong, 2020). Little research has been conducted to understand immigrant, migrant, or refugee women's postnatal experiences during COVID-19. The overarching aim of this paper is to present data on the postnatal experiences of resettled Syrian refugee women in the context of COVID-19. More specifically, to elucidate refugee women's experiences accessing

postnatal formal health services and informal social supports during the first six months of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Methods

This research article reports on analyses conducted on a subset of data collected as part of a larger project which interviewed resettled Syrian refugee women in Nova Scotia about their experiences accessing postnatal healthcare and social support. Eight women from the broader data set experienced part of their postpartum period during the first six month of the COVID-19 pandemic. Their experiences are reported here. Findings on women's experiences of postnatal services and supports prior to COVID-19 are reported elsewhere (Stirling Cameron, Aston, et al., 2021).

Setting

This study was conducted in the Atlantic Canadian province of Nova Scotia in the city of Halifax which entered a state of emergency on March 22, 2020 (Government of Nova Scotia, 2021). To slow the spread of COVID-19, a Health Protection Act Order and public health measures were put into place at this time. These measures included physical distancing requirements, gathering limits, travel restrictions, closure of public parks and trails, and the closure of schools and daycare centres. Related to healthcare, many non-essential appointments were cancelled or rescheduled, restrictions were placed on the presence of support people during childbirth and postnatal appointments (zero to one additional person allowed), visits from public health nurses were virtual and some doula services were cancelled, and many healthcare appointments were delivered via telehealth (Nova Scotia Health, 2021b). Nova Scotia's first wave lasted through March to late May, with restrictions easing in June 2020 (Government of Nova Scotia, 2021).

Methodology

This qualitative study was conducted using elements of constructivist grounded theory. The practices of grounded theory (GT), first developed by Glaser and Strauss (1967), are designed to aid the researcher in developing a set of concepts that explain a social phenomenon under study (Corbin & Strauss, 1990). GT is an approach often taken to better contextualize an understudied phenomenon or experience (Wuest, 2012) whereby researchers scrutinize their own preconceptions and constructions as part of the analysis (Charmaz, 2014). The purpose of utilizing grounded theory for this research was not to develop a theory, but to use techniques of GT (e.g., thick and rich description, line-by-line coding, constant comparisons) to analyse participants' experiences accessing postnatal services and supports and develop a comprehensive conceptual understanding of the phenomenon (Corbin & Strauss, 2015).

Recruitment and Procedure

Ethics approval for this project was received by [name of institution blinded for peer-review] (#2019-5016). Women were eligible to participate if they came to Canada as a refugee, originated from Syria, were living in the city of Halifax, and spoke Arabic. This paper presents data related to post-partum experiences during the early months of COVID-19 in Nova Scotia, and to be included in the analyses—for this report, women had to have given birth after March 2020, or have a child under the age of 12 months at the time of the interview (i.e., had to be postnatal at some point during the months of the pandemic prior to data collection).

A research assistant who was fluent in Arabic and English was hired to assist with recruitment and language interpretation. All recruitment and data collection materials

were drafted and reviewed by two English- and Arabic-speaking research assistants to ensure an accurate translation. Women (both those who had COVID-19 postpartum experiences and those who did not) were purposefully recruited through community centres, health clinics, and private sponsorship organizations. Arabic and English versions of recruitment posters were distributed through the social media, websites, email networks, and/or social media platforms of these recruitment groups. Potential participants were instructed to contact the research assistant by phone or email to assess for eligibility. Interested participants selected whether they wanted to complete a telephone interview or a video call (Microsoft Teams), and then scheduled a time for the interview.

In advance of the interview, women were emailed a copy of the consent form in both Arabic and English. The primary investigator and an Arabic interpreter were present at each interview. Before beginning the interview, the interpreter verbally reviewed the consent form and verbal consent was recorded. Verbal consent helped to alleviate any burden on participants to print, sign, and scan, or electronically sign and email a consent form. Participants were asked a few demographic questions (e.g., marital status, number of children, years spent in Canada) before conducting the interview. They were also asked if part of their postnatal period (i.e., the first 12 months after birth) was during some months of the COVID-19 pandemic. If yes, they were asked a set of additional interview questions specifically related to COVID. The interview guide was comprised of a series of open-ended questions based on a review of the literature and suggestions from community stakeholders. Example COVID-related questions included: How did COVID-19 impact your ability to access healthcare services? Were any services unavailable or

only available virtually? How did the pandemic impact your ability to see family, friends? Did this affect you and your mental health/wellbeing? Interviews took place during the months of August and September 2020. All interviews were audio recorded. Analysis

Audio recordings were transcribed verbatim and translated into English by the same interpreter who was present for all interviews. The translated interviews were read a number of times to familiarize the lead researcher with its content. Line-by-line coding was completed using Atlas.ti (version 8) data analysis software (Muhr, 2017) wherein each idea was labeled with a key idea. Key ideas were organized into preliminary categories. Constant comparative analysis was used to identify similarities and differences between and within categories, after which related categories were collapsed into themes and subthemes. Collaborative team meetings were held throughout the coding process to provide feedback on the coding process and developing analysis.

Results

Select details of the socio-demographics of the 8 women who had postpartum experiences during the early months of COVID-19 are provided in Table 1. All eight participants were married, spoke Arabic as their preferred language, and originated from Syria. Women had between two and eight children and most arrived in Nova Scotia in 2016. All women arrived through the government-assisted resettlement program.

Three main themes emerged from the data: the impacts of COVID-19 on postnatal healthcare; loss of informal support; and grief and anxiety caused by the COVID environment.

Impacts of COVID-19 on Postnatal Healthcare

Participants conveyed that COVID-19 changed their access to and use of postnatal healthcare services. Limitations on in-hospital support people, childcare restrictions, changes to services delivery, and a move towards virtual care created challenges and opportunities for women's postnatal care.

Isolated Birthing Experiences

Many participants who delivered during the pandemic discussed the impacts that hospital restrictions and larger public health measures had on their birthing experiences. A culmination of factors, including limited access to childcare, restrictions on support people, and the unavailability of doulas, meant that many women laboured and delivered alone, or with fewer supports than they would have liked.

With the temporary closures of public schools, and daycare centres, families had limited options for childcare for their additional children. Participants also did not have extended family (e.g., mothers) in Canada and many women did not feel comfortable asking friends to watch their children, given their friends' own responsibilities and the risk of spreading the virus. Several women in this study gave birth during the COVID-19 months with no support people, as their husbands took care of their children while they were in the hospital. Participant 1 described her experience: "No one could accompany me to the hospital because of COVID. I was alone. My husband drove me to the hospital, but I was all by myself during delivery. My husband helped me carry my things with me to the hospital, but other than that I was all by myself." Other participants who delivered without support people had similar feelings, describing their births during COVID as "hard," "scary," and "lonely."

Other women who wished for their friends to accompany them to the hospital discussed having to choose between their partners and friends, as only one support person was allowed to accompany women. Participant 7 said, "My friend was with me. My husband stayed with the kids at home, and he couldn't even come because during COVID only one person was allowed to accompany the woman who gives birth. He used to bring us food, give them to my friend outside the hospital, but he never entered." Visitation after birth was also limited, which was difficult for several participants who had hoped they could see their families or friends after delivery. Participant 3 described how emotionally challenging and isolating it was to not have her partner visit after her birth: "The hospital rules are strict during COVID. Visits are forbidden, friends can't come, and they could not be there to help me. My husband was allowed to visit me twice a day in the hospital. I stayed for two days. I felt really lonely, it was a hard experience." Participant 1 also mentioned how difficult it was to be separated from her other children while recovering after birth, stating, "I didn't see my children for two days, I wanted them to come to the hospital so I could see them, but it wasn't possible because of COVID. My little baby girl was crying all the time without me... I just wanted to be discharged from the hospital and go home to them" (Participant 1).

In addition to the restrictions on support people, several women who delivered during the first wave were unable to access doula services, as doulas were temporarily suspended with the rise in COVID cases. Doulas were frequently used by Syrian newcomer women prior to the pandemic, and as Participant 7 said, "before COVID, many Syrian women were offered doulas by [immigrant support group], but I was not offered one. Because of COVID they stopped this service." Not having access to doula support

services left women isolated and exhausted without their assistance. Even after doula services resumed, they were not classified as healthcare staff, and had to accompany women as one of their designated support people, limiting the additional family members or friends who could be with participants while they delivered.

Changes to Interpretation Service Provision

All participants spoke Arabic as their preferred language and were often dependent on interpretation services to effectively communicate with healthcare providers. Due to public health and hospital policies at the time of COVID-19, most participants reported that use of in-person interpretation services were largely restricted. Postnatal appointments that would have typically been translated by in-person interpreters were moved to telephone interpretation. Telephone interpretation was preferred over no translation at all, but it was often slow. Participant 7 said, "Before COVID I had an in-person interpreter. But during COVID, it was hard. The interpretation over the phone was not efficient." Several women had to wait for telephone interpreters to become available, with one participant waiting six hours in the emergency department for interpretation services to be provided, delaying her access to urgent care. Most participants outlined their preference for in-person interpretation and described how important it can be for interpreters to read women's body language and facial expressions. As stated by Participant 3, "The in-person interpreter feels and understands what I am going through just by seeing me. The phone interpreter on the other hand can't see me and is waiting for me to talk in order to interpret." This participant conveyed the added comfort of having a person be present with her and the ease that brings to the appointment.

Participant 3 described how crucial it was for her to have in-person interpretation, particularly during COVID-19, as her husband and friend were unable to be with her during her cesarian section. Not only did this interpreter ensure that the participant was able to communicate with her healthcare team, but she also acted in lieu of the participant's support people, providing comfort and support: "When I entered the surgical room I cried. I was so lonely. I was scared. I needed someone to be with me to ease my stress. So, the interpreter, who I thank from the bottom of my heart, told me not to worry and told me that she will be there for me" (Participant 3). This participant conveyed the added benefits of in-person interpretation, which go beyond reading body language, to providing emotional support. Other participants even discussed their interpreters acting as advocates for patient safety.

Several participants indicated that they were not given any interpretation at all and were forced to navigate healthcare interactions in English during COVID-19: "Sometimes they explained things to me by using signs and I understand a little English but it's hard to understand medical terms and they didn't use an interpreter for this" (Participant 6). This participant felt particularly frustrated by this experience and did not feel like she fully understood the health information shared by her care providers. Moreover, information shared online about changing public health restrictions and hospital-based restrictions was predominantly provided in English. This language barrier made it difficult for women to keep up with the constantly evolving guidelines and restrictions related to COVID and their understanding of access to postnatal care.

Transition to Virtual Care

The transition to telehealth and virtual care had both positive and negative implications for participants. Primary care services and in-home postnatal supports, such as those provided by doulas and public health nurses, were offered virtually. Telehealth appointments did pose some challenges for interpretation. Women described how complicated it was to connect with their primary care providers, and interpreters, over the phone. Appointments were carried out through separate, back-and-forth telephone calls with a translator, who would relay information to the physician and then separately call back the participant: "I ask the interpreter and she speaks to the doctor and then they get back to me with the answers. It is complicated, but what could we do?" (Participant 4). Some participants felt a sense of hopelessness around this form of interpretation, feeling as though they had no alternative ways to communicate with providers. Though it was inconvenient for them, they felt it was the only option in light of the restrictions caused by the pandemic.

Participants indicated that in-home services provided by doulas and public health nurses during the postnatal period were cancelled in the first wave. While public health nurses continued to follow-up with women virtually, the hands-on care they had provided pre-COVID-19 was not available. Primary healthcare services also transitioned to be mostly virtual during the first wave of COVID-19, impacting women's ability to access long-acting contraceptives after birth. Women were only able to access condoms or oral contraceptives through virtual care appointments. Participant 4 described her experience: "I asked the doctor for an IUD insertion. I was prepared for its insertion, but it didn't happen. Because of COVID, everything was delayed, and until now I haven't gotten it." Though this woman was able to access alternative contraceptive options in the interim,

she was particularly interested in long-acting contraceptive options, for their preferable side-effect profile (over hormonal contraceptives) and heightened effectiveness.

Though virtual care did create challenges for some women, it was actually preferred by others. Telehealth appointments alleviated the need for some women to find childcare and transportation to attend in-person appointments. Participant 1 described her preference for virtual care: "I found the services I got when I delivered during COVID much better than those with my first-born baby here. I liked the services while delivering and the period after. They kept calling me, checking on me and asking how I was doing." Similarly, participant seven said telephone appointments were "much easier" than in-person visits.

Loss of Informal Support

Stay-at-home orders, isolation requirements, and limitations on in-person gathering limited women's access to informal support people after birth. This was compounded by the temporary closure of schools and daycare facilities, leaving women to care for their children and newborn without external support people, causing exhaustion, fatigue, and isolation.

Missing Support People

Gathering limits and physical distancing requirements additionally meant that women had few sources of in-person, informal support during their postpartum period. Several participants described the ways in which their neighbours and friends had supported them through previous, non-COVID births in Canada by providing meals, cleaning, offering emotional support and advice, and caring for their other children. These supports were no longer available to women during the first wave of the pandemic

because of restrictions concerning household visitation. As all participants had already been separated from their extended family before COVID-19, as a result of forced migration and resettlement, their sense of loss was compounded by also not being able to see local friends after birth, who had become a kind of chosen family. Participant 7 described how difficult it was to be separated from her family and local friends, comparing her emotions to the experience of drowning: "It was really hard during COVID. In Syria I had my family... but to give birth here with no one with me?! It was really hard. I needed someone with me, my neighbours, my friends... I felt like I was drowning." Several other participants had limited social connections even before COVID-19. For these women, nothing had changed between prior births in Canada and their birth during COVID, and as one participant explained, "Things haven't changed because even before COVID I didn't have any friends here" (Participant 6). These women were already extremely isolated and lonely, having been separated from their family in the Middle East, and having limited or no support people in Canada. Their pre-COVID postpartum experiences were no different than the isolating periods women endured during the pandemic lockdowns.

Childcare Burden

COVID restrictions also resulted in the closure of schools and daycares between the months of March and June, 2020.(Government of Nova Scotia, 2021) As a result, all participants indicated that they had between one and seven additional children at home, fulltime after delivery. Participants discussed the stress and exhaustion experienced while juggling homeschooling or childcare for their additional children in addition to caring for their new baby. One participant stated, "There is a lot of stress. My son doesn't go to

daycare because of COVID, so both my sons are home all the time... It was very stressful at home, especially when I felt depressed, and the kids were there all the time... This was the hardest part" (Participant 6). Women discussed how tiring it was to have a newborn, let alone care for one in a context with limited support, and while caring for their additional children. Another participant described the social withdrawal that she felt while postpartum during COVID as a result of the physical exhaustion she was feeling, "I was so tired and fatigued that I didn't talk to anyone. I didn't have the energy for anything" (Participant 7).

Anxiety and Grief Caused by COVID-19

COVID-19 had significant impacts on women's mental health. The COVID environment overshadowed the joyous moments of childbirth, with women enduring heightened levels of anxiety triggered by a fear of the virus. Participants further reported feelings of sadness and disappointment as their expectations around their birth and postnatal period were disrupted by COVID-19.

Fear of COVID-19

A significant source of anxiety for many participants was the risk of themselves or their family being exposed to COVID-19. Women were particularly concerned for their infant's health, feeling as though they were particularly vulnerable to the virus: "I was scared of COVID. I was scared over my children's health and because I had recently delivered, I was afraid of my last baby's health" (Participant 1). Several participants' husbands were working in essential services (e.g., food delivery, construction) and continued to work during the first wave. This caused concern, for their husband's health and that the husband may carry the virus into their home: "I was really scared. Because

he was the only one who went outdoors and was exposed to people so I was afraid that he might get infected with the virus and carry it home" (Participant 6). Women were particularly hesitant to visit the hospital, or other healthcare clinics, fearing that it was a hotspot for the virus, "It was hard because I didn't know how the situation was in the hospital, I was scared that the hospital might be an epicenter of the pandemic. I was scared that the virus spreads easily in the hospital" (Participant 6). Fear of COVID was a severe enough that one participant skipped certain postnatal appointments at the hospital. Others described the sadness that it caused them to have to leave their partners and infants at home and visit the hospital alone:

"I had to take all the precautions measurements and put on a mask and gloves. It was really hard. To go to the hospital a few days after birth, all by myself and to leave my baby at home because nobody is allowed to be with me was really very hard. I was thinking that even if I die, I will die alone. It saddened me" (Participant 7).

Several women also spoke of the concerns and anxieties they had for family members living in other countries (e.g., the United Kingdom, Lebanon, Syria), where there were high rates of COVID-19. "In Syria, where my husband's family is, the situation is very hard, so many COVID cases" (Participant 5). Women also spoke of the fear their older children had around the virus. Participant 8 said that her children were "terrified of COVID." Not only did they have to manage their own anxieties around their virus, but their children's as well, to ensure their mental health was supported through the pandemic.

Broken Expectations

Several women described the hopes and anticipations that they had about their postnatal experiences, prior to the onset of the pandemic. Many participants were eagerly anticipating their "Canadian baby" and were looking forward to sharing this event with their new, local social network of neighbours and friends. Yet physical distancing and gathering limits meant that there were few opportunities for friends to meet and socialize in person with mothers and their new babies. Participants described feeling saddened that this significant life event could not be celebrated in person: "We really wanted to have a new baby here and were excited... I had been dreaming of having a big party after my birth here, to invite my friends but suddenly COVID happened, and I had no one to support me" (Participant 7). Other participants were looking forward to enjoying more intimate moments with their husbands and children, such as having their children visit in the hospital, which was not possible because of COVID-19, leaving women and their families disappointed, "My kids at home were so upset that they couldn't visit me at the hospital and see the baby. They had been so excited during my pregnancy saying that they are waiting to visit me in the hospital after I give birth and to hold the baby, they wanted to bring me flowers but of course because of COVID none of that happened" (Participant 6). Most participants felt a sense of loss or grief, as they were not able to share in person the joys of having a new baby with their friends and community members—a key moment of the postpartum experience.

Discussion

This study has revealed the ways in which COVID-19 has impacted resettled Syrian refugee women's postnatal experiences of formal health care services and informal supports. Participants described experiences of limited support during birth,

poor access to in-person interpretation, cancelled in-person health services, and transition to virtual care. The COVID environment also impacted resettled refugee women's mental health during the postnatal period, causing increased feelings of fear, isolation, and disappointment. These findings are consistent with other recent reports on the experiences of non-newcomer women who are postpartum during COVID-19 in Atlantic Canada (Dol et al., 2020; Joy et al., 2020; Ollivier et al., 2021). The COVID-specific experiences of non-newcomer women parallels the pre-pandemic postpartum experience of resettled refugee women. Isolated birthing experiences (Ahmed et al., 2017; Henry et al., 2020; Stirling Cameron, Aston, et al., 2021), reduced access to informal support people (Henry et al., 2020; Hrabok et al., 2020; Niner et al., 2013; Stirling Cameron, Aston, et al., 2021), and high rates of postpartum depressive symptoms (Ahmed et al., 2008; O'Mahony & Donnelly, 2013; Stewart et al., 2008) were all experienced by resettled refugee women before the pandemic began.

Data presented in this study demonstrated the ways in which the pandemic environment and related restrictions amplified pre-existing barriers to care and postnatal health inequalities for resettled refugee women. Particularly, COVID-19 has limited already fragmented access to interpretation (Correa-Velez & Ryan, 2012; Henry et al., 2020; Niner et al., 2013; Origlia Ikhilor et al., 2019; Stirling Cameron, Aston, et al., 2021; Wu & Rawal, 2017). During the state of emergency in Nova Scotia, the healthcare system restricted access to interpretation, with a move towards telephone interpretation, which was described as cumbersome and slow to access, and less desirable than having an in-person interpreter. Women noted that the function of interpreters goes beyond being a conduit for effective communication between patients and providers. Our findings our

consistent with the literature, which has also shown that in-person interpreters provide emotional support and act as a medical advocate for women, ultimately assisting healthcare providers in administering safe, high-quality care (Wu & Rawal, 2017; Yeheskel & Rawal, 2019). Other studies have highlighted the maltreatment and trauma that can occur during birth when interpreters or interpretation services are not provided (Henry et al., 2020). Failure to provide interpreters leaves resettled refugee women vulnerable to inadequate pain management, violates the principle of informed consent, and can leave women distressed (Henry et al., 2020; Stirling Cameron, Aston, et al., 2021). This must be considered in the context of personnel restrictions in hospital and clinic settings as the pandemic continues.

Like other postnatal women in the pandemic, physical distancing requirements and the general fear and anxiety that accompanied the pandemic impacted some participants' mental health (Adhanom Ghebreyesus, 2020; Fallon et al., 2021; Hessami et al., 2020; Ollivier et al., 2021). Women in our study described the stresses and pressures they faced as a result of decreased informal support, increased childcare and homeschooling demands, and the closures/restrictions of valuable support services (e.g., doulas)—all of which have been reported in other literature with non-newcomer women (Chandler et al., 2021; Dol et al., 2020; Ollivier et al., 2021). These stressors were coupled with feelings of disappointment and loss related to missed or robbed birth- and postnatal-related moments and milestones (Dol et al., 2020; Joy et al., 2020; Ollivier et al., 2021). Studies with non-newcomer women have also found significant increases in postpartum anxiety (Hessami et al., 2020) and depression symptoms (Zanardo et al.,

2020) during the pandemic, in addition to a significant increase in healthcare visits for postpartum mental health concerns (Vigod et al., 2021).

Though most postnatal mothers in the context of COVID are experiencing worsened mental health outcomes, resettled refugee women in Canada are significantly more likely to experience postpartum depression symptoms—at a rate three-to-five-times higher the Canadian-born women—in a pre-pandemic context. Previous studies have found correlations between increased depressive symptomology and low levels of social and informal support among refugee women (Ahmed et al., 2008; Stewart et al., 2008). As a result of stay-at-home orders and physical distancing requirements, women were unable to access any in person support systems they may have established in Canada, which resulted in high rates of isolation and stress. Though this research study did not formally assess or evaluate mental health concerns among resettled refugee women, it could be posited that limited supports and added pressures of the COVID environment may have heightened the risk for postpartum mental illness among resettled refugee women.

The COVID-19 pandemic has posed ethical challenges regarding the implementation of policies that reduce the spread of the virus but may cause unintentional harm to women and their families (Kotlar et al., 2021). Most notably, COVID-related restrictions around the presence of in-person support people in-hospital and at home (e.g., family, friends, doulas) has had detrimental impacts on maternal mental health during the postpartum period (Dol et al., 2020; Joy et al., 2020; Ollivier et al., 2021). The unavailability of support people left women overwhelmed, exhausted, in a particularly vulnerable stage of life. Members of the Respectful Maternity Care Charter Global

Council have called for innovation and flexible programming and policies to deliver high-quality maternal healthcare in a way that respects the rights of mothers and newborns and is COVID safe (Jolivet et al., 2020). Of particular concern is the denial of critical in person support people during birth, which for our participants included spouses, friends, doulas, and interpreters. We would encourage policymakers to consider doulas and interpreters as necessary and important care team members, and allow them to be classified as such, rather than having to occupy a designated 'support person' space. Hospitals could also help to facilitate virtual family-centred care by offering technological supports (i.e., tablet with video capabilities) to connect women with their families virtually during birth and postnatal appointments (Hart et al., 2020).

Limitations

This study is not without limitations. Data included in this study were based on a sub-set of findings from a larger study. Although a number of questions were asked specifically about COVID-19, the focus of the parent study and of the interviews was not focused exclusively on women's experiences during COVID-19. Additional questions were not asked around COVID experiences, as a large portion of the interview was dedicated to pre-COVID experiences. Time did not allow for further probing around COVID-19. Moreover, all participants in this study were multiparous and married. Future research may seek to explore the experiences of single parents and first-time mothers, who may experience potentially different stressors during this time.

Conclusion

This research paper is one of the first to report on the experiences of resettled refugee women who were postnatal during the early months of the COVID-19 pandemic

in Canada. Public health restrictions had significant implications for Syrian refugee women in this study who were in the postnatal period during COVID-19. Participants encountered systemic barriers to postnatal care that had been amplified due to the pandemic. Women's mental health was also stretched with the competing challenges of new motherhood, limited support, and fear and exhaustion caused by the pandemic, ultimately leading many to feel isolated, anxious, and depressed. The particular barriers facing resettled refugee women must be considered as public health recommendations and restrictions continue to evolve. Many issues reported by participants are liable to persist in the aftermath of COVID-19 and must be addressed to ensure equitable access to care and support for postnatal women as we move into a post-pandemic environment.

Table 2. Participant demographic characteristics for Manuscript 2

Demographic characteristics	N = 8
Marital status	
Married	8 (100)
SES	
We do not have enough money for basic necessities	0 (0)
We have enough money for basic necessities, but no	8 (100.0)
extras	
We have enough money to buy extra things beyond	0 (0)
necessities, at least sometimes	
Prefer not to answer	0 (0)
Number of children	
1-2	1 (12.5)
3-4	2 (25.0)
5-6	3 (37.5)
7-8	2 (25.0)
Sponsorship type	
Government assisted	8 (100.0)
Private sponsorship	0 (0)
Length of time in Canada	
2 years	1 (12.5)
3 years	0 (0)
4 years	7 (87.5)

Chapter 5: Discussion

This thesis describes a qualitative study aimed at understanding resettled Syrian refugee women's experiences accessing postnatal healthcare services and informal supports in Halifax, Nova Scotia, Canada. Manuscript 1 (Chapter 3) reported on (i) barriers and facilitators to postnatal maternal healthcare and informal support, and on (ii) valued and missing services and supports for women who had children between 2015 and March 2020 (i.e., prior to the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic). Manuscript 2 (Chapter 4) reports on the experiences of resettled Syrian refugee women who were postnatal during the early months of the COVID-19 pandemic (i.e., between the months of March and August 2020). Each individual manuscript has its own specific discussion section. Please refer to Manuscript 1 (Chapter 3) and Manuscript 2 (Chapter 4) for their in-depth discussions related to each respective analysis.

The first and second manuscripts (Chapters 3 and 4) described the importance of social support for women during the postpartum period. Participants described the ways in which extended family (especially female relatives) had supported them after their births that had occurred in the Middle East. The absence of these critical support people, including mothers, sisters, and aunts was felt strongly by all participants during their Canadian births, whether the births occurred pre-COVID or during COVID. Women who had relied on their families and friends for support during the perinatal period noted a distinct lack of support after resettlement and during their postpartum period. This lack of informal supports is due primarily to the lack of nearby peers and family members who could physically help with the demands of carrying, delivering, and raising children. Other studies have reported similar experiences of separation and reduced levels of

support among immigrant and refugee women in Canada (Ahmed et al., 2017; Higginbottom et al., 2016; Higginbottom et al., 2014; O'Mahony et al., 2012)

Other studies conducted among resettled refugees described living apart from family as contributing to feelings of postpartum isolation, loss, and grief (Ahmed et al., 2017; Higginbottom et al., 2016; Higginbottom et al., 2014; O'Mahony et al., 2012.) A review by Heslehurst et al. (2018) found several studies identifying a lack of in-person social and family support to be critical risk factors for the development of postnatal mental health disorders in resettled refugees. Similarly, Zelkowitz et al (2004) found that resettled refugee women with more severe depressive symptoms had social networks with fewer women, fewer relatives, and fewer people from their own cultural background. In addition to the mental health impacts, women in our study attributed low levels of informal postnatal support to particular adverse physical health outcomes, including slow surgical recovery times, fatigue, and decreased breastmilk production. Indeed, other work has found that low informal support and feelings of isolation can contribute to breast-feeding challenges (Hufton & Raven, 2016).

Though many participants described feelings consistent with symptoms of postpartum depression or anxiety, only a select number of participants sought out professional services. Several participants in our sample had seen a psychiatrist or psychologist during their postpartum period, but both of these participants discontinued service use. Others felt as though seeking services for their mental health was "pointless." Feelings of shame and stigma around mental health services have been widely reported in the literature among other resettled refugees of Middle Eastern origin (Asma Ahmed et al., 2017; O'Mahony & Donnelly, 2010; O'Mahony & Donnelly, 2013; Riggs et al.,

2020; Yelland et al., 2014). Some studies reported that women did not conceptualize mental unwellness as a health concern, and that any discussion around symptoms of sadness or depression should be shared with close family members, not care providers (Yelland et al., 2014). Other studies articulated that newcomer women had a limited understanding of the Western conceptualization/label of 'postpartum depression' and were unaware that formal services existed to help with this or how to access them (G. M. Higginbottom et al., 2016; Merry et al., 2011). Though some women may not be interested in formal, labelled counselling or psychotherapy, offering non-labelled group social spaces or group discussions could be beneficial (Russo et al., 2019). Other research has found that the use of the term "wellness" rather than "mental health" is preferable for Syrian women (Ahmed et al., 2017).

Results as presented in the two manuscripts indicate that access to postnatal healthcare was not always easy for the resettled Syrian refugee women who participated in the study. Structural barriers including limited access to childcare, geographical and transportation challenges, language and communication challenges, impeded women's abilities to access and use maternal healthcare services. All of these barriers have been reported previously and have disrupted access to maternity care for immigrants, refugees, and asylum-seekers in Canada for decades (Gagnon et al., 2002; Ganann et al., 2012; Higginbottom et al., 2016; Khanlou et al., 2017; Stewart et al., 2008).

A critical, structural barrier to care for participants was the irregular provision of interpreters and telephone interpretation services. Successful communication between patients and their care providers is key to ensuring healthy outcomes for mothers and their infants during childbirth and the postpartum period (Henry et al., 2020; Origlia

Ikhilor et al., 2019). Some study participants faced delayed access to care, and inadequate pain management, as a result of language and communication barriers and lack of interpretation. Interpreters work to facilitate effective communication between patients and their healthcare teams, to facilitate the delivery of safe, high quality care to patients who are culturally and linguistically diverse (Wu & Rawal, 2017; Yeheskel & Rawal, 2019). Providing timely access to quality interpretation improves communication between patients and providers, improves quality of care, patient involvement, and has the capability to improve provision of health promotion information and uptake of preventative healthcare (Henry et al., 2020; Jaeger et al., 2019; Origlia Ikhilor et al., 2019).

Participant autonomy and cultural safety were also important barriers to care for study participants. Women reported having referrals cancelled by their physician, infant feeding preferences overlooked, and methods of family planning questioned. The common thread among these differing experiences was that participants did not feel that they were equal participants in the decision-making process, and ultimately, healthcare decisions were made for them without their expressed consent which appeared to have negative consequences for the women's health. This suggests a need for providers to better understand the prejudices and biases that they may hold which influences their behaviours when caring for women of a refugee background. In some instances, there was a clear power imbalance and lack of meaningful involvement or consideration of women's care preferences. Cultural and linguistic differences may create challenges for shared decision making between healthcare providers and newcomer patients, yet women must be supported to make their own informed choices.

Study findings indicate that even before the COVID-19 pandemic, obstetrical care was difficult to obtain for many resettled Syrian refugee women. This has been historically reported among other resettled populations in Canada and among other high-income resettlement countries around the world (Heslehurst et al., 2018; Khanlou et al., 2017; Riggs et al., 2012; Yelland et al., 2014). Canada's healthcare system appears "universal" and emergency and routine healthcare is provided for Canadians regardless of their residency or citizenship status, yet healthcare access remains inequitable. Language, migration background, and socioeconomic status, remain critical determinants of health, threatening access and use of postnatal healthcare.

Limitations of the Research Program

Specific limitations have been listed in each respective manuscript. To avoid redundancy, they have not been listed here but in chapters two and three.

Implications for Health Promotion

Recognize Interpreters as Essential Team Members

A recent publication by Jaeger et al., 2019 highlighted steps that must be taken to improve the availability of interpretation for refugees. Notably, healthcare providers must receive system-level support to accommodate and bolster the use of interpreters. Health systems must allow providers to book longer appointments with culturally and linguistically diverse patients, to accommodate the necessary back-and-forth with interpreters. This may involve adapting billing codes for fee-for-service providers to appropriately compensate for longer appointments (Andrulis & Brach, 2007). Care providers also need to be educated on the use of interpreters and telephone interpretation. Jaegar et al. (2019) found that over 40% of healthcare providers in Switzerland did not

know how to access interpretation or telephone interpretation for their patients. This and other studies have highlighted the benefits of in-person interpreters, particularly when compared to telephone interpretation, as body language and facial expressions are missed over the phone. However, on-site or in-person interpretation is often only available at larger tertiary care centres and is not always a feasible approach for smaller clinics and primary care offices. Telephone interpretation may be the only option in these settings, in emergencies, and for less commonly spoken languages. Jaegar et al. (2019) proposed a compromise for these circumstances, by using virtual, video-based interpretation to allow for the availability of telephone interpretation, but with the ability for the patient and interpreter to see one another.

The fact remains that interpreters, even at their best, are filters and can disempower patients (Wu & Rawal, 2017; Yeheskel & Rawal, 2019). Our participants ultimately wanted to converse with and be supported by healthcare providers of a similar linguistic and cultural background, removing any outstanding concerns related to shame, or confidentiality, posed by interpreters. Health professions needs to further diversify and provide language-concordant providers for linguistically diverse patients. This will require collaborative action from health systems, academic institutions, and governments to implement affirmative action programming, and recognize the value of culturally and linguistically diverse healthcare providers. To implement the above recommendations, sectors ranging from health administration, policy making, immigration, academic institutions, and more must come together to address the multi-sectoral actions that must be taken to improve interpretation use, access, and ultimately, the transition away from interpretation and towards linguistically concordant care providers and patients.

Unfortunately, many of these sectors remain siloed and independent from one another. Employing health promoters to connect these sectors to form working groups and develop policy action plans may help to break down these silos.

Cultural Safety and Humility

Findings reported in the first manuscript indicated a need for measures/strategies to improve patient safety, shared decision-making, and autonomy. Cultural safety encourages healthcare professionals to examine how their own biases, assumptions, stereotypes, and prejudices may influence patient interactions (Curtis et al., 2019). While cultural safety informs interactions between providers and patients on a small, person-to-person scale, cultural humility as a framework positions existing power structures in healthcare as needing to change to better meet the needs of marginalized patient populations, rather than the other way around. Providers must develop a "lifelong commitment to self-evaluation and critique, to redressing power imbalances . . . and to developing mutually beneficial and non-paternalistic partnerships with communities on behalf of individuals and defined populations" (p. 123; Tervalon & Murray-García, 1998).

Health systems and care providers must address issues of cultural humility and safety at individual and systemic/organizational levels. At an individual level, providers must work beyond acquiring information about different cultures and patient populations but rather engage in self-reflection to acknowledge and address potential power imbalances and biases that may be affecting their ability to provide culturally safe patient care. This can include anti-oppressive training for medical, nursing, social work, and

psychology students, but also supporting healthcare staff already engaged in the system to participate in continuing education around cultural safety and humility.

Culturally unsafe health systems and clinical spaces may also contribute to negative patient experiences (Curtis et al., 2019; Fisher-Borne et al., 2015). Previous literature has highlighted the benefits of offering childcare services, making relevant materials (referrals, treatment instructions, prescriptions) available in preferred languages, and offering flexible, drop-in hours to accommodate potential delays caused by transportation/childcare challenges (Chan et al., 2018; Lau & Rodgers, 2021). Other considerations include co-locating medical care alongside community service spaces and committing to hiring bilingual and culturally diverse staff across disciplines (Lau & Rodgers, 2021; Yeheskel & Rawal, 2019). Interpreters or tele-interpretation services should be used when language-concordant providers are not available (Wu & Rawal, 2017). It is crucial for any health system working towards making spaces safe for newcomers must meaningfully engage in consultations with prospective service users to ensure spaces and policies meet their needs and the needs of the community.

Other interventions have targeted patient-empowerment, providing women with education on maternity care and available services and how to navigate them. Previous studies have highlighted the benefits of hiring social workers, cultural brokers, or peer health advisors to connect with refugee patients to assist with scheduling/understanding referrals, obtaining prescriptions, navigating health systems, and connecting families with other social resources (e.g., income assistance, housing, language services) (Lau & Rodgers, 2021; Reavy et al., 2012).

Postnatal Social Support Programming

One of the most commonly discussed challenges reported in this study was a lack of in-person social support. Cultural and linguistic differences pose key barriers for newcomer women seeking to build new friendships in their host countries (Aching & Granato, 2018). Mainly White, English-speaking spaces may not be accessible or approachable for newcomers. Other studies have called for and/or implemented programs to facilitate networking and social connection among resettled refugee women. Examples have included women-only social activities (e.g., walking groups; Ahmed et al., 2017), mother and baby play groups (Aching & Granato, 2018), and even group wellness sessions facilitated by trained counsellors. It is critical that spaces be made culturally safe and appropriate, held in trusted community spaces, linguistically and culturally appropriate (O'Mahony et al., 2013). Very limited research and evaluation has been conducted on postnatal social programming for newcomer women of any country of origin. Community needs-assessments and program implementation and evaluation are needed to trial social interventions for resettled refugee women to bolster mental health and social connectedness.

Ideally, women wanted to have in person access to their family during significant moments, particularly during labour and delivery. Even after resettlement, women maintain transnational networks of relatives and friends who often continue to offer socio-emotional support, health information, and advice from a distance (e.g., through instant messaging, video and telephone calls; Henry et al., 2020). While physical support from family remains difficult to facilitate, overseas family members (and even local family and friends while COVID restrictions persist) could attend appointments virtually. COVID-19 has pushed healthcare teams to use more virtual methods of communication

to keep family members and patients connected through pandemic restrictions (Hart et al., 2020). Providing stable internet, the time and opportunity for women to connect with their family, or even providing a tablet or laptop to facilitate videoconferencing would help to promote family-centred care during critical moments.

Knowledge Mobilization

Knowledge dissemination will occur at the community and academic level. A written community report (available in English and Arabic) will be developed and distributed to relevant stakeholders and community-based organizations who participated in recruitment. It will also be emailed or mailed to any women who indicated they would like to receive a copy at the time of their interview. Findings will also be shared with specific, interested stakeholders, who have been engaged with the research since its inception either through discussions, written reports, or presentations.

The researcher has prepared and defend the study as a thesis. Research findings have been presented locally to BRIC Nova Scotia, the Women's Health Interest Group, The Centre for Transformative Nursing, and Health Research. Abstracts will be submitted to the North American Primary Care Research Group (NAPCRG) Conference, the Canadian Association for Perinatal and Women's Health Nursing Conference, and the Association for Health Services and Policy Research Conference (CAHSPR). A commentary on the need to consistent interpretation provision will also be prepared and submitted to the Canadian Medical Association Journal or The Conversation following publication of the main thesis papers. Manuscript 1 has been submitted to Midwifery (April 2021) and Manuscript 2 has been submitted to BMC Reproductive Health (July 2021).

Future Directions

There are several directions future research could take. Healthcare providers who care for newcomer patients could be surveyed to understand the opportunities and challenges they face when caring for this population. Particular attention should be given the inconsistent provision of interpretation and the possible solutions needed to boost usage among healthcare provides. Other research could pilot and evaluate programming, such as postnatal social support groups or peer navigation services for first-time perinatal newcomers. Future research could also target the development and testing of cultural safety training and education for health professional students or healthcare providers as well as research around the implementation of affirmative action policies. It is critical to note that all work should incorporate a participatory approach, including newcomer women and other relevant stakeholders, throughout the research process.

Conclusion

Findings from this thesis have demonstrated that access to healthcare for postnatal Syrian refugee women remains difficult to access. Despite Canada touting a 'universal' healthcare system, access to care is not experienced equitably among all of its citizens. For women in this study, language differences, socioeconomic limitations, gender, and immigrant status shaped their experiences accessing care, sometimes resulting in communication errors, missed and delayed appointments, and reduced decision-making autonomy. Moreover, separation from extended family and friends through the process of forced migration left many women isolated and in need to extra support during the postpartum period. Participants highlighted the important role extended family has traditionally played after birth, and how much that was missed in Canada. Friends and

some community members were able to fill these gaps for some women, yet others were left with only their husbands to support them postnatally.

COVID-19 restrictions further disrupted women's access to care by limiting the presence of in-person interpreters, reducing access to childcare, and leaving women isolated during delivery. Other social supports that may have been available before the onset of the pandemic were largely unavailable during periods of lockdown in the early months of the pandemic, further isolating women—many of whom were already isolated before COVID-19 during this critical life event. It is important to highlight that the conditions created by the pandemic have amplified existing health inequities to care for resettled Syrian refugee women. These issues may persist in the aftermath of COVID-19 and must be addressed to ensure equitable access to care and support for postnatal women as we move into a post-pandemic environment.

References

- Aching, M. C., & Granato, T. M. M. (2018). Role of a support network for refugee mothers [O papel da rede de apoio a mães refugiadas]. Estudos de Psicologia (Campinas), 35(2), 137–147. https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-85048066699&doi=10.1590%2F1982-02752018000200003&partnerID=40&md5=1e42474ab6f1596c47bb1b7bdf6ff3ad
- Adhanom Ghebreyesus, T. (2020). Addressing mental health needs: an integral part of COVID-19 response. World Psychiatry, 19(2), 129–130. https://doi.org/10.1002/wps.20768
- Ahmed, Amal, Stewart, D. E., Teng, L., Wahoush, O., & Gagnon, A. J. (2008). Experiences of immigrant new mothers with symptoms of depression. Archives of Women's Mental Health, 11(4), 295–303. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00737-008-0025-6
- Ahmed, Asma, Bowen, A., & Feng, C. X. (2017). Maternal depression in Syrian refugee women recently moved to Canada: A preliminary study. BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth, 17(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-017-1433-2
- Andrulis, D. P., & Brach, C. (2007). Language to improve health care quality for diverse populations. Health San Francisco, 31 Suppl 1(1), 122–133.
- Asanin, J., & Wilson, K. (2008). "I spent nine years looking for a doctor": Exploring access to health care among immigrants in Mississauga, Ontario, Canada. Social Science and Medicine, 66(6), 1271–1283. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2007.11.043
- Aston, M., Price, S., Monaghan, J., Sim, M., Hunter, A., & Little, V. (2018). Navigating and negotiating information and support: Experiences of first-time mothers. Journal of Clinical Nursing, 27(3–4), 640–649. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.13970 BBC. (2018). What's happening in Syria? https://www.bbc.co.uk/newsround/16979186
- BBC. (2019). Why is there a war in Syria? https://www.bbc.com/news/world-middle-east-35806229

- Bradfield, Z., Hauck, Y., Homer, C. S. E., Sweet, L., Wilson, A. N., Szabo, R. A., Wynter, K., Vasilevski, V., & Kuliukas, L. (2021). Midwives' experiences of providing maternity care during the COVID-19 pandemic in Australia. Women and Birth, Advance on(xxxx), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wombi.2021.02.007
- Bradshaw, C., Atkinson, S., & Doody, O. (2017). Employing a qualitative description approach in health care research. Global Qualitative Nursing Research, 4. https://doi.org/10.1177/2333393617742282
- Brown, S., & Lumley, J. (1998). Maternal health after childbirth: Results of an australian population based survey. British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, 105(2), 156–161. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-0528.1998.tb10045.x
- Campbell, R. M., Klei, A. G., Hodges, B. D., Fisman, D., & Kitto, S. (2014). A comparison of health access between permanent residents, undocumented immigrants and refugee claimants in Toronto, Canada. Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health, 16(1), 165–176. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-012-9740-1
- Chan, M., Johnston, C., & Bever, A. (2018). Exploring health service underutilization: A process evaluation of the newcomer women's health clinic. Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health, 20(4), 920–925. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-017-0616-2
- Chandler, R., Guillaume, D., Parker, A. G., Mack, A., Hamilton, J., Dorsey, J., & Hernandez, N. D. (2021). The impact of COVID-19 among Black women: Evaluating perspectives and sources of information. Ethnicity and Health, 26(1), 80–93. https://doi.org/10.1080/13557858.2020.1841120
- Charmaz, K. (2014). Constructing Grounded Theory (D. Silverman (ed.); Second). Sage Publications Ltd.
- CNN. (2018). How seven years of war turned Syria's cities into "hell on Earth." https://edition.cnn.com/2018/03/15/middleeast/syria-then-now-satellite-intl/index.html
- Connor, J., Madhavan, S., Mokashi, M., Amanuel, H., Johnson, N. R., Pace, L. E., & Bartz, D. (2020). Health risks and outcomes that disproportionately affect women during the Covid-19 pandemic: A review. Social Science and Medicine, 266. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2020.113364

- Corbin, J., & Strauss, A. (1990). Grounded Theory Methodology: Procedures, Canons, and Evaluative Criteria. Qualitative Sociology., 13(1), 3–21. https://med-fom-familymed-research.sites.olt.ubc.ca/files/2012/03/W10-Corbin-and-Strauss-grounded-theory.pdf
- Corbin, J., & Strauss, A. (2015). Basics of qualitative research: Techniques and procedures for developing grounded theory (Fourth Edi).
- Cornish, A. M., McMahon, C. A., Ungerer, J. A., Barnett, B., Kowalenko, N., & Tennant, C. (2005). Postnatal depression and infant cognitive and motor development in the second postnatal year: The impact of depression chronicity and infant gender. Infant Behavior and Development, 28(4), 407–417. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.infbeh.2005.03.004
- Correa-Velez, I., & Ryan, J. (2012). Developing a best practice model of refugee maternity care. Women and Birth, 25(1), 13–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wombi.2011.01.002
- Creswell, J. W., & Poth, C. N. (2018). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches (Fourth Edi). Sage.
- Curtis, E., Jones, R., Tipene-Leach, D., Walker, C., Loring, B., Paine, S. J., & Reid, P. (2019). Why cultural safety rather than cultural competency is required to achieve health equity: A literature review and recommended definition. International Journal for Equity in Health, 18(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-019-1082-3
- Darvill, R., Skirton, H., & Farrand, P. (2010). Psychological factors that impact on women's experiences of first-time motherhood: A qualitative study of the transition. Midwifery, 26(3), 357–366. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.midw.2008.07.006
- Davenport, M. H., Meyer, S., Meah, V. L., Strynadka, M. C., & Khurana, R. (2020). Moms Are Not OK: COVID-19 and Maternal Mental Health. Frontiers in Global Women's Health, 1(1), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgwh.2020.00001

- Davis-Floyd, R., Gutschow, K., & Schwartz, D. A. (2020). Pregnancy, Birth and the COVID-19 Pandemic in the United States. Medical Anthropology: Cross Cultural Studies in Health and Illness, 39(5), 413–427. https://doi.org/10.1080/01459740.2020.1761804
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (1994). Handbook of qualitative research (N. K. Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln (eds.)). Sage.
- Dol, J., Richardson, B., Aston, M., McMillan, D., Tomblin Murphy, G., & Campbell-Yeo, M. (2020). Impact of COVID-19 restrictions on the postpartum experience of women living in Eastern Canada: A mixed method cohort study. MedRxiv, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.01.30.21250555
- Eastwood, J. G., Jalaludin, B. B., Kemp, L. A., Phung, H. N., & Barnett, B. E. (2012). Relationship of postnatal depressive symptoms to infant temperament, maternal expectations, social support and other potential risk factors: Findings from a large Australian cross-sectional study. BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth, 12(148), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2393-12-148
- Elisabeth, M., Maneesh, P. S., & Michael, S. (2020). Refugees in Sweden During the Covid-19 Pandemic—The Need for a New Perspective on Health and Integration. Frontiers in Public Health, 8(October), 6–10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2020.574334
- Emmanuel, E., St John, W., & Sun, J. (2012). Relationship between social support and quality of life in childbearing women during the perinatal period. JOGNN Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic, and Neonatal Nursing, 41(6), E62–E70. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1552-6909.2012.01400.x
- Encyclopaedia Britannica. (2018). Syrian civil war. https://www.britannica.com/event/Syrian-Civil-War/Civil-war
- Fallon, V., Davies, S. M., Silverio, S. A., Jackson, L., De Pascalis, L., & Harrold, J. A. (2021). Psychosocial experiences of postnatal women during the COVID-19 pandemic. A UK-wide study of prevalence rates and risk factors for clinically relevant depression and anxiety. Journal of Psychiatric Research, 136, 157–166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2021.01.048

- Fisher-Borne, M., Cain, J. M., & Martin, S. L. (2015). From Mastery to Accountability: Cultural Humility as an Alternative to Cultural Competence. Social Work Education, 34(2), 165–181. https://doi.org/10.1080/02615479.2014.977244
- Gagnon, A. J., Carnevale, F. A., Saucier, J. F., Clausen, C., Jeannotte, J., & Oxman-Martinez, J. (2010). Do referrals work? Responses of childbearing newcomers to referrals for care. Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health, 12(4), 559–568. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-009-9242-y
- Gagnon, Anita J., Dougherty, G., Wahoush, O., Saucier, J. F., Dennis, C. L., Stanger, E., Palmer, B., Merry, L., & Stewart, D. E. (2013). International migration to Canada: The post-birth health of mothers and infants by immigration class. Social Science and Medicine, 76(1), 197–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2012.11.001
- Gagnon, Anita J, Merry, L., & Robinson, C. (2002). A systematic review of refugee women's reproductive health. Refuge Canada's Periodical on Refugees, 21(1), 6–17.
- Ganann, R., Sword, W., Black, M., & Carpio, B. (2012). Influence of maternal birthplace on postpartum health and health services use. Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health, 14(2), 223–229. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-011-9477-2
- Germain, S., & Yong, A. (2020). COVID-19 highlighting inequalities in access to healthcare in England: A case study of ethnic minority and migrant women. Feminist Legal Studies, 28(3), 301–310. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10691-020-09437-z
- Gibbs, A. (1997). Focus groups. Social Research Update, 19(8), 1–8. http://sru.soc.surrey.ac.uk/SRU19.html
- Glaser, B., & Strauss, A. (1967). Grouned theory: The discovery of grounded theory. Sociology: The Journal of the British Sociological Association, 12(1), 27–49.
- Goss, J. D., & Leinbach, T. R. (1996). Focus groups as an alternative research practice: Experience with transmigrants in Indonesia. The Royal Geography Society, 28(2), 115–123. https://doi.org/10.2307/20003647

- Government of Canada. (2017a). #WelcomeRefugees: Key figures.
- Government of Canada. (2017b). Canada's Syrian commitments. https://www.canada.ca/en/immigration-refugeescitizenship/services/refugees/welcome-syrian-refugees/canada-commitment.html
- Government of Canada. (2017c). Get government assistance Refugees. https://www.canada.ca/en/immigration-refugees-citizenship/services/refugees/help-within-canada/government-assisted-refugee-program.html
- Government of Canada. (2019a). Admissions of resettled refugees by province/territory and census metropolitan area of intended destination and immigration category. https://open.canada.ca/data/en/dataset/4a1b260a-7ac4-4985-80a0-603bfe4aec11
- Government of Canada. (2019b). Syrian Refugee Resettlement Initiative Looking to the future. https://www.canada.ca/en/immigration-refugees-citizenship/services/refugees/welcome-syrian-refugees/looking-future.html
- Government of Canada. (2019c). Syrian refugee settlement service clients by province/territory of settlement provider organizations, gender, age group at service and immigration category. https://open.canada.ca/data/en/dataset/01c85d28-2a81-4295-9c06-4af792a7c209
- Government of Canada. (2021). Coronavirus disease (COVID-19): Prevention and risks.
- Government of Nova Scotia. (2021). Coronavirus (COVID-19): Alerts, news, and data. https://novascotia.ca/coronavirus/alerts-notices/
- Guba, E., & Lincoln, Y. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry. Sage.
- Guest, E. M., & Keatinge, D. R. (2009). The value of new parent groups in child and family health nursing. Journal of Perinatal Education, 18(3), 12–22. https://doi.org/10.1624/105812409x461180
- Gurnah, K., Khoshnood, K., Bradley, E., & Yuan, C. (2011). Lost in translation: reproductive health care experiences of Somali Bantu women in Hartford, Connecticut. Journal of Midwifery & Women's Health, 56(4 PG-340–346), 340–346. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1542-2011.2011.00028.x

- Guruge, S., Roche, B., & Catallo, C. (2012). Violence against women: An exploration of the physical and mental health trends among immigrant and refugee women in Canada. Nursing Research and Practice, 2012, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/434592
- Guruge, S., Sidani, S., Illesinghe, V., Younes, R., Bukhari, H., Altenberg, J., Rashid, M., & Fredericks, S. (2018). Healthcare needs and health service utilization by Syrian refugee women in Toronto. Conflict and Health, 12(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13031-018-0181-x
- Haran, C., van Driel, M., Mitchell, B. L., & Brodribb, W. E. (2014). Clinical guidelines for postpartum women and infants in primary care-a systematic review. BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth, 14(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2393-14-51
- Hart, J. L., Turnbull, A. E., Oppenheim, I. M., & Courtright, K. R. (2020). Family-Centered Care During the COVID-19 Era. Journal of Pain and Symptom Management, 60(2), e93–e97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2020.04.017
- Henry, J., Beruf, C., & Fischer, T. (2020). Access to health care for pregnant Arabic-speaking refugee women and mothers in Germany. Qualitative Health Research, 30(3), 437–447. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732319873620
- Heslehurst, N., Brown, H., Pemu, A., Coleman, H., & Rankin, J. (2018). Perinatal health outcomes and care among asylum seekers and refugees: A systematic review of systematic reviews. BMC Medicine, 16(1), 1–25. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-018-1064-0
- Hessami, K., Romanelli, C., Chiurazzi, M., & Cozzolino, M. (2020). COVID-19 pandemic and maternal mental health: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of Maternal-Fetal and Neonatal Medicine, 0(0), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1080/14767058.2020.1843155
- Higginbottom, G. M. A., Hadziabdic, E., Yohani, S., & Paton, P. (2014). Immigrant women's experience of maternity services in Canada: A meta-ethnography. Midwifery, 30(5), 544–559. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.midw.2013.06.004

- Higginbottom, G. M., Safipour, J., Yohani, S., O'Brien, B., Mumtaz, Z., Paton, P., Chiu, Y., & Barolia, R. (2016). An ethnographic investigation of the maternity healthcare experience of immigrants in rural and urban Alberta, Canada. BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth, 16(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-015-0773-z
- Hrabok, M., Watterson, R., DeVetten, G., & Wagner, A. (2020). Canadian Refugee Women Are at Increased Risk of Postpartum Depression: How Can We Help? Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Canada, 42(11), 1391–1393. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jogc.2020.03.023
- Hufton, E., & Raven, J. (2016). Exploring the infant feeding practices of immigrant women in the North West of England: A case study of asylum seekers and refugees in Liverpool and Manchester. Maternal and Child Nutrition, 12(2), 299–313. https://doi.org/10.1111/mcn.12145
- Hung, C. H., & Chung, H. H. (2001). The effects of postpartum stress and social support on postpartum women's health status. Journal of Advanced Nursing, 36(5), 676–684. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2648.2001.02032.x
- Iqbal, M., Omar, L., & Maghbouleh, N. (2021). The fragile obligation: Gratitude, discontent, and dissent with Syrian reguees in Canada. Journal of Middle East and North African Migration Studies, 8(2), 1–30. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.24847/v8i22021.257
- IRCC. (2017). Backgrounder: Growing Canada's economic future.
- IRCC. (2018). 2018 annual report to parliament on immigration. https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/ircc/migration/ircc/english/pdf/pub/annual-report-2018.pdf
- IRCC. (2019). Syrian outcomes report. https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/ircc/documents/pdf/english/corporate/reports-statistics/evaluations/syria-outcomes-report-may-2019.pdf
- IRCC. (2021). Syrian refugees family composition. https://open.canada.ca/data/en/dataset/ca243c40-a6d3-4a46-a578-b4fad4369df0

- ISANS, & Rainbow Refugee Association of Nova Scotia. (2019). About us.
- Jaeger, F. N., Pellaud, N., Laville, B., & Klauser, P. (2019). Barriers to and solutions for addressing insufficient professional interpreter use in primary healthcare. BMC Health Services Research, 19(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-019-4628-6
- Jolivet, R. R., Warren, C. E., Sripad, P., Ateva, E., Gausman, J., Mitchell, K., Hacker, H.P., Sacks, E., & Langer, A. (2020). Upholding Rights Under COVID-19: TheRespectful Maternity Care Charter. Health and Human Rights Journal.
- Joy, P., Aston, M., Price, S., Sim, M., Ollivier, R., Benoit, B., Akbari-Nassaji, N., & Iduye, D. (2020). Blessings and Curses: Exploring the Experiences of New Mothers during the COVID-19 Pandemic. Nursing Reports, 10(2), 207–219. https://doi.org/10.3390/nursrep10020023
- Kantamneni, N. (2020). The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on marginalized populations in the United States: A research agenda. Journal of Vocational Behavior, 119, 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2020.103439
- Khan, A., & DeYoung, S. E. (2019). Maternal health services for refugee populations: Exploration of best practices. Global Public Health, 14(3), 362–374. https://doi.org/10.1080/17441692.2018.1516796
- Khanlou, N., Haque, N., Skinner, A., Mantini, A., & Kurtz Landy, C. (2017). Scoping review on maternal health among immigrant and refugee women in Canada: Prenatal, intrapartum, and postnatal care. Journal of Pregnancy, 2017(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/8783294
- Kluge, H. H. P., Jakab, Z., Bartovic, J., D'Anna, V., & Severoni, S. (2020). Refugee and migrant health in the COVID-19 response. Lancet, 395, 1237–1239. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30791-1
- Kotlar, B., Gerson, E., Petrillo, S., Langer, A., & Tiemeier, H. (2021). The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on maternal and perinatal health: a scoping review. Reproductive Health, 18(1), 10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12978-021-01070-6

- Krefting, L. (1991). Rigor in qualitative research: The assessment of trustworthiness. American Journal of Occupational Therapy, 45(3), 214–222. https://doi.org/10.1080/05568640809485227
- LaMancuso, K., Goldman, R. E., & Nothnagle, M. (2016). "Can I ask that?": Perspectives on perinatal care after resettlement among Karen refugee women, medical providers, and community-based doulas. Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health, 18(2), 428–435. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-015-0172-6
- Lau, L. S., & Rodgers, G. (2021). Cultural competence in refugee service settings: A scoping review. Health Equity, 5(1), 124–134. https://doi.org/10.1089/heq.2020.0094
- Leahy-Warren, P., Mccarthy, G., & Corcoran, P. (2012). First-time mothers: Social support, maternal parental self-efficacy and postnatal depression. Journal of Clinical Nursing, 21(3–4), 388–397. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2702.2011.03701.x
- Mackenzie, N., & Knipe, S. (2006). Research dilemmas: Paradigms, methods and methodology. Issues In Educational Research, 16, 0–5. http://www.iier.org.au/iier16/mackenzie.html
- McCabe, J. L., & Holmes, D. (2009). Reflexivity, critical qualitative research and emancipation: A Foucauldian perspective. Journal of Advanced Nursing, 65(7), 1518–1526. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2009.04978.x
- Merry, L. A., Gagnon, A. J., Kalim, N., & Bouris, S. (2011). Refugee claimant women and barriers to health and social services post-birth. Canadian Journal of Public Health, 102(4), 286–290.
- Muhr, T. (2017). Atlas.ti: The Qualitative Data Analysis & Research Software.
- Negron, R., Martin, A., Almog, M., Balbierz, A., & Howell, E. A. (2013). Social support during the postpartum period: Mothers' views on needs, expectations, and mobilization of support. Maternal and Child Health Journal, 17(4), 616–623. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-012-1037-4

- Niner, S., Kokanovic, R., & Cuthbert, D. (2013). Displaced Mothers: Birth and Resettlement, Gratitude and Complaint. Medical Anthropology: Cross Cultural Studies in Health and Illness, 32(6), 535–551. https://doi.org/10.1080/01459740.2013.769103
- Nova Scotia Health. (2021a). Finding a primary care provider in Nova Scotia: January 2021. https://www.nshealth.ca/files/finding-primary-care-provider-nova-scotia-january-2021

Nova Scotia Health. (2021b). Nova Scotia Health Visitor Restrictions.

- O'Mahony, J., & Donnelly, T. (2010). Immigrant and refugee women's post-partum depression help-seeking experiences and access to care: A review and analysis of the literature. Journal of Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing, 17(10), 917–928. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2850.2010.01625.x
- O'Mahony, J. M., & Donnelly, T. T. (2013). How does gender influence immigrant and refugee women's postpartum depression help-seeking experiences? Journal of Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing, 20(8), 714–725. https://doi.org/10.1111/jpm.12005
- O'Mahony, Joyce Maureen, Donnelly, T. T., Este, D., & Bouchal, S. R. (2012). Using critical ethnography to explore issues among immigrant and refugee women seeking help for postpartum depression. Issues in Mental Health Nursing, 33(11), 735–742. https://doi.org/10.3109/01612840.2012.701707
- O'Mahony, Joyce Maureen, Donnelly, T. T., Raffin Bouchal, S., & Este, D. (2013). Cultural background and socioeconomic influence of immigrant and refugee women coping with postpartum depression. Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health, 15(2), 300–314. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-012-9663-x
- Ollivier, R., Aston, D. M., Price, D. S., Sim, D. M., Benoit, D. B., Joy, D. P., Iduye, D., & Nassaji, N. A. (2021). Mental health & parental concerns during COVID-19: The experiences of new mothers amidst social isolation. Midwifery, 94, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.midw.2020.102902

Open Harbour Refugee Association. (2019). Helping refugees start a new life.

- Origlia Ikhilor, P., Hasenberg, G., Kurth, E., Asefaw, F., Pehlke-Milde, J., & Cignacco, E. (2019). Communication barriers in maternity care of allophone migrants: Experiences of women, healthcare professionals, and intercultural interpreters. Journal of Advanced Nursing, 75(10), 2200–2210. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.14093
- O'Mahony, J. M., Donnelly, T. T., Bouchal, S. R., & Este, D. (2012). Barriers and Facilitators of Social Supports for Immigrant and Refugee Women Coping With Postpartum Depression. Advances in Nursing Science, 35(3), E42–E56. https://doi.org/10.1097/ANS.0b013e3182626137
- Peláez, S., Hendricks, K. N., Merry, L. A., & Gagnon, A. J. (2017). Challenges newly-arrived migrant women in Montreal face when needing maternity care: Health care professionals' perspectives. Globalization and Health, 13(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12992-016-0229-x
- QSR International Pty Ltd. (2021). NVivo qualitative data analysis software (No. 12).
- Quintanilha, M., Mayan, M. J., Thompson, J., & Bell, R. C. (2016). Contrasting "back home" and "here": How Northeast African migrant women perceive and experience health during pregnancy and postpartum in Canada. International Journal for Equity in Health, 15(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-016-0369-x
- Race, K. E. h., Hotch, D. F., & Packer, T. (1994). Rehabilitation program evaluation: Use of focus groups to empower clients. Evaluation Review, 18(6), 730–740. https://doi.org/10.1177/0193841X9401800605
- Ramesar, V., & Tattrie, J. (2021). HRM population hits record high, propelled by new immigrants. CBC. https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/nova-scotia/halifax-partnership-growth-population-employment-statistics-canada-1.5877648
- Reavy, K., Hobbs, J., Hereford, M., & Crosby, K. (2012). A new clinic model for refugee health care: Adaptation of cultural safety. Rural and Remote Health, 12(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.22605/rrh1826
- Refugee Sponsorship Training Program. (2021). The Private Sponsorship of Refugees (PSR) Program. http://www.rstp.ca/en/refugee-sponsorship/the-private-sponsorship-of-refugees-program/

- Reitmanova, S., & Gustafson, D. L. (2008). "They can't understand it": Maternity health and care needs of immigrant Muslim women in St. John's, Newfoundland. Maternal and Child Health Journal, 12(1), 101–111. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-007-0213-4
- Riggs, E., Davis, E., Gibbs, L., Block, K., Szwarc, J., Casey, S., Duell-Piening, P., & Waters, E. (2012). Accessing maternal and child health services in Melbourne, Australia: Reflections from refugee families and service providers. BMC Health Services Research, 12(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-12-117
- Riggs, E., Yelland, J., Szwarc, J., Duell-Piening, P., Wahidi, S., Fouladi, F., Casey, S., Chesters, D., & Brown, S. (2020). Afghan families and health professionals' access to health information during and after pregnancy. Women and Birth, 33(3), e209–e215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wombi.2019.04.008
- Roberts, D. E. (1997). Killing the Black body: Race, reproduction, and the meaning of liberty. Pantheon Books.
- Ross, L. J. (2017). Reproductive justice as intersectional feminist activism. Souls, 19(3), 286–314. https://doi.org/10.1080/10999949.2017.1389634
- Ross, L., & Solinger, R. (2017). Reproductive Justice: An Introduction (R. Solinger, K. M. Bridges, Z. Luna, & R. Tapia (eds.)). University of California Press. http://uci.or.kr/G300-jX1384937.v19n0p321
- Russo, A., Lewis, B., Ali, R., Abed, A., Russell, G., & Luchters, S. (2019). Family planning and afghan refugee women and men living in melbourne, australia: New opportunities and transcultural tensions. Culture, Health & Sexuality, PG-. https://doi.org/10.1080/13691058.2019.1643498
- Sheikh-Mohammed, M., MacIntyre, C. R., Wood, N. J., Leask, J., & Isaacs, D. (2006). Barriers to access to health care for newly resettled sub-Saharan refugees in Australia. The Medical Journal of Australia, 185(12), 594–597. www.mja.com.au
- Stapleton, H., Murphy, R., Correa-Velez, I., Steel, M., & Kildea, S. (2013). Women from refugee backgrounds and their experiences of attending a specialist antenatal clinic. Narratives from an Australian setting. Women and Birth, 26(4), 260–266. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wombi.2013.07.004

- Statistics Canada. (2006). Report on the demographic situation in Canada. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/en/pub/91-209-x/91-209-x2003000-eng.pdf?st=oOLCIYlQ
- Statistics Canada. (2016a). 150 years of immigration in Canada.
- Statistics Canada. (2016b). Immigration status. https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/ref/dict/pop148-eng.cfm
- Statistics Canada. (2017). Immigrant population in Canada: 2016 census of population. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/11-627-m/11-627-m2017028-eng.htm
- Statistics Canada. (2018). Population growth: Migratory increase overtakes natural increase. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/11-630-x/11-630-x2014001-eng.htm
- Stewart, D. E., Gagnon, A., Saucier, J. F., Wahoush, O., & Dougherty, G. (2008). Postpartum depression symptoms in newcomers. Canadian Journal of Psychiatry, 53(2), 121–124. https://doi.org/10.1177/070674370805300208
- Stewart, M., Kushner, K. E., Dennis, C. L., Kariwo, M., Letourneau, N., Makumbe, K., Makwarimba, E., & Shizha, E. (2017). Social support needs of Sudanese and Zimbabwean refugee new parents in Canada. International Journal of Migration, Health and Social Care, 13(2), 234–252. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJMHSC-07-2014-0028
- Stirling Cameron, E., Aston, M., Ramos, H., Kuri, M., & Jackson, L. (2021). "I really needed my family:" Syrian refugee women's experiences accessing health services and social support in Nova Scotia, Canada. In Midwifery.
- Stirling Cameron, E., Ramos, H., Aston, M., Kuri, M., & Jackson, L. (2021). The birth and postnatal experiences of resettled Syrian refugee women during COVID-19 in Canada.
- Sword, W., Watt, S., & Krueger, P. (2006). Postpartum health, service needs, and access to care experiences of immigrant and Canadian-born women. Lournal of Obstetric, Gynecologic, and Neonatal Nursing, 35(6), 717–727. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1552-6909.2006.00092.x

- Teng, L., Robertson Blackmore, E., & Stewart, D. E. (2007). Healthcare worker's perceptions of barriers to care by immigrant women with postpartum depression: An exploratory qualitative study. Archives of Women's Mental Health, 10(3), 93–101. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00737-007-0176-x
- Tervalon, M., & Murray-García, J. (1998). Cultural humility versus cultural competence: A critical distinction in defining physician training outcomes in multicultural education. Journal of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved, 9(2), 117–125. https://doi.org/10.1353/hpu.2010.0233
- Thapa, S. B., Mainali, A., Schwank, S. E., & Acharya, G. (2020). Maternal mental health in the time of the COVID-19 pandemic. In Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica (Vol. 99, Issue 7, pp. 817–818). Wiley-Blackwell. https://doi.org/10.1111/aogs.13894
- Thompson, J. F., Roberts, C. L., Currie, M., & Ellwood, D. A. (2002). Prevalence and persistence of health problems after childbirth: Associations with parity and method of birth. Birth, 29(2), 83–94.
- UNESCO. (2017). Asylum seeker. http://www.unesco.org/new/en/social-and-human-sciences/themes/international-migration/glossary/asylum-seeker/
- UNHCR. (2017). Frequently asked questions about resettlement. https://www.unhcr.org/56fa35b16
- UNHCR. (2018a). Information on UNHCR resettlement. https://www.unhcr.org/information-on-unhcr-resettlement.html
- UNHCR. (2018b). Internally displaced people. https://www.unhcr.org/internally-displaced-people.html
- UNHCR. (2018c). Resettlement. https://www.unhcr.org/resettlement.html
- UNHCR. (2018d). What is a refugee? https://www.unrefugees.org/refugee-facts/what-is-a-refugee/

- UNHCR. (2019a). Migrant definition. https://emergency.unhcr.org/entry/250459/migrant-definition
- UNHCR. (2019b). Refugee facts: Refugee statistics. https://www.unrefugees.org/refugee-facts/statistics/
- UNHCR. (2020a). Figures at a glance. http://www.unhcr.org/figures-at-a-glance.html
- UNHCR. (2020b). Global Trends: Forced displacement in 2019. https://www.unhcr.org/globaltrends2018/
- UNHCR. (2020c). Trends at a glance: Global trends forced displacement in 2019. UNHCR The UN Refugee Agency, 1–84. https://www.unhcr.org/5ee200e37.pdf
- Unicef: Middle East and North Africa. (2019). Lack of access to medical care in Syria is putting children's lives at risk. https://www.unicef.org/mena/press-releases/lack-access-medical-care-syria-putting-childrens-lives-risk
- United Nations. (2019). Refugees. https://www.un.org/en/sections/issues-depth/refugees/
- Vigod, S. N., Brown, H. K., Huang, A., Fung, K., Barker, L. C., Hussain-Shamsy, N., Wright, E., Dennis, C.-L., Grigoriadis, S., Gozdyra, P., Corsi, D., Walker, M., & Moineddin, R. (2021). Postpartum mental illness during the COVID-19 pandemic: a population-based, repeated cross-sectional study. Canadian Medical Association Journal, 193(23), E835–E843. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.210151
- Wayland, S. V. (1997). Immigration, multiculturalism and national identity in Canada.
- Webb, D. A., Bloch, J. R., Coyne, J. C., Chung, E. K., Bennett, I. M., & Culhane, J. F. (2008). Postpartum physical symptoms in new mothers: Their relationship to functional limitations and emotional well-being. Birth, 35(3), 179–187. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-536X.2008.00238.x
- Webster, J., Nicholas, C., Velacott, C., Cridland, N., & Fawcett, L. (2011). Quality of life and depression following childbirth: Impact of social support. Midwifery, 27(5), 745–749. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.midw.2010.05.014

- WHO. (2005). The World Health Report: Make every mother and child count. In World Health Report. https://www.who.int/whr/2005/whr2005_en.pdf?ua=1
- WHO. (2021). WHO Coronavirus (COVID-19) Dashboard. https://covid19.who.int/
- Winn, A., Hetherington, E., & Tough, S. (2018). Caring for pregnant refugee women in a turbulent policy landscape: Perspectives of health care professionals in Calgary, Alberta. International Journal for Equity in Health, 17(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-018-0801-5
- World Food Programme. (2018). Syrian Arab Republic. https://www1.wfp.org/countries/syrian-arab-republic
- Wu, M. S., & Rawal, S. (2017). "It's the difference between life and death": The views of professional medical interpreters on their role in the delivery of safe care to patients with limited English proficiency. PLoS ONE, 12(10), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0185659
- Wuest, J. (2012). Grounded theory: The method. In Nursing research: A qualitative perspective (5th ed., pp. 225–256).
- Xie, R. H., He, G., Koszycki, D., Walker, M., & Wen, S. W. (2009). Prenatal social support, postnatal social support, and postpartum depression. Annals of Epidemiology, 19(9), 637–643. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annepidem.2009.03.008
- Yee, L. M., Martinez, N. G., Nguyen, A. T., Hajjar, N., Chen, M. J., & Simon, M. A. (2017). Using a patient navigator to improve postpartum care in an Urban Women's Health Clinic. Obstetrics and Gynecology, 129(5), 925–933. https://doi.org/10.1097/AOG.0000000000001977
- Yeheskel, A., & Rawal, S. (2019). Exploring the 'Patient Experience' of Individuals with Limited English Proficiency: A Scoping Review. Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health, 21(4), 853–878. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-018-0816-4

- Yelland, J., Riggs, E., Wahidi, S., Fouladi, F., Casey, S., Szwarc, J., Duell-Piening, P., Chesters, D., & Brown, S. (2014). How do Australian maternity and early childhood health services identify and respond to the settlement experience and social context of refugee background families? BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth, 14(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2393-14-348
- Zanardo, V., Manghina, V., Giliberti, L., Vettore, M., Severino, L., & Straface, G. (2020). Psychological impact of COVID-19 quarantine measures in northeastern Italy on mothers in the immediate postpartum period. International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics, 150(2), 184–188. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijgo.13249
- Zelkowitz, P., Schinazi, J., Katofsky, L., Saucier, J. F., Valenzuela, M., Westreich, R., & Dayan, J. (2004). Factors associated with depression in pregnant immigrant women. Transcultural Psychiatry, 41(4), 445–464. https://doi.org/10.1177/1363461504047929

Appendix A: Confidentiality Agreement for Interpreters

This agreement is between:

Emma Cameron and Dalhousie University and [interpreter/transcriptionist/research staff name and affiliation] for

Project Title: Understanding Access to Postnatal Healthcare for Syrian Refugee Women in Nova Scotia: Barriers, Facilitators, and Need for Services

Summary of job description/service provision: [describe work expectations here]

I agree to:

- 1. Keep all the research information shared with me confidential. I will not discuss or share the research information with anyone other than with the Researcher(s) or others identified by the Researcher(s).
- 2. Keep all research information secure while it is in my possession.
- 3. Return all research information to the Researcher(s) when I have completed the research tasks or upon request, whichever is earlier.
- 4. Destroy all research information regarding this research project that is not returnable to the Researcher(s) after consulting with the Researcher(s).
- 5. Comply with the instructions of the Researcher(s) about requirements to physically and/or electronically secure records (including password protection, file/folder encryption, and/or use of secure electronic transfer of records through file sharing, use of virtual private networks, etc.).
- 6. Not allow any personally identifiable information to which I have access to be accessible from outside Canada (unless specifically instructed otherwise in writing by the Researcher(s)).
- 7. Other (specify):

(Print Name)		(Signature)	(Date)	
I agre	e to:			
1.		and instruction on my expectant information so that [transcriptoms.		
2. Provide oversight and support to [transcriptionist/research staff] in enconfidentiality is maintained in accordance with the Tri Council Polici Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans and consistent with to Dalhousie University Policy on the Ethical Conduct of Research Involuments.				
Resea	archer(s):			
	(Print Name)	(Signature)	(Date)	

Appendix B: Email to Community Organizations

Dear [insert community organization name],

My name is Emma Cameron and I am a master's student at Dalhousie University in the School of Health and Human Performance under the supervision of Dr. Lois Jackson. I am writing to ask for your assistance in recruiting participants to help with a research study looking at access to postnatal healthcare services for Syrian newcomer women. Your organization has been selected as you provide services to Syrian women who may recently have had children in Nova Scotia.

For my master's thesis, I am conducting a research project titled, "Understanding Access to Postnatal Healthcare for Syrian Refugee Women in Nova Scotia: Barriers, Facilitators, and Need for Services." The purpose of the study is to understand the experiences of Syrian mothers who have used or tried to use any healthcare services in Halifax and to understand what role any family and friends may play in helping them after they have had their baby. This study has been approved by Dalhousie University's Research Ethics Board.

The study is looking for Syrian women, who have had a baby within the past five years in Nova Scotia, who are at least 6 weeks postpartum, can speak Arabic, have come to Canada as a refugee (not immigrant or refugee claimant), and who live in the Halifax Regional Municipality. Anyone interested in participating will be asked to take part in one 45-60 minute virtual interview. Participants will be asked a series of open-ended questions about their experiences with postnatal healthcare services and supports. The interview will be conducted in Arabic. Participants will be compensated with a \$25 gift card.

You or your organization will not be held responsible for the study or any issues that arise as a result of it. Please let us know if your organization would be willing to distribute our recruitment flyer (which will be available in English and Arabic) electronically or in person (COVID-19 restrictions allowing). Or if you would be willing to hang up posters in your centre (COVID-19 restrictions allowing). If you have any further questions, I would be happy to discuss over email or phone.

Thank you for considering,

Emma Cameron [email signature]

Appendix C: Email Response for RA [This was made available in Arabic]

Dear [name],

Thank you for your interest in our study, titled, "Understanding Access to Postnatal Healthcare for Syrian Refugee Women in Nova Scotia: Barriers, Facilitators, and Need for Services." This study is being conducted as part of a master's student's thesis within the Faculty of Health at Dalhousie University. The purpose of the study is to understand the experiences of Syrian mothers who have used or tried to use any healthcare services in Halifax and to understand what role any family and friends may play in helping them after they have had their baby. Anyone interested in participating will be asked to take part in one 45-60 minute interview online or over the phone.

The study is looking for Syrian women, who have had a baby within the past five years in Nova Scotia, are at least 6 weeks postpartum, can speak Arabic, have come to Canada as a refugee (not immigrant or refugee claimant), and who live in the Halifax Regional Municipality. You will be asked a series of open-ended questions about your experiences, particularly about the barriers you encountered when trying to use postnatal health services, if you family and friends helped you with your baby, what services you really like, and what are missing. The lead researcher and an interpreter will be present. Your responses will be audiotaped, and you will need access to a private, quiet space to complete the interview.

Please note that you are under no obligation to partake in this study. Choosing to take part or not take part will have no effect on your ability to access any healthcare services. The research team will do everything possible to make sure any information you share will be kept private and confidential. Your name will not be attached to anything you say, it will be kept completely anonymous.

Please let me know if you are interested in taking part or if you have any questions. We can schedule interviews for any time that is convenient for you and your family, including evenings and weekends. You will be given a \$25 gift card for participating. If you are interested, I will send you a reminder email or call two days before the interview.

Best,
[Name]

Appendix D: Telephone Script for Interested Women Calling the Phone [This was made available in Arabic]

Hello [name],

Thank you for your interest in our study, titled, "Understanding Access to Postnatal Healthcare for Syrian Refugee Women in Nova Scotia: Barriers, Facilitators, and Need for Services." This study is being conducted as part of a master's student's thesis within the Faculty of Health at Dalhousie University. The purpose of the study is to understand the experiences of Syrian mothers who have used or tried to use any healthcare services in Halifax and to understand what role any family and friends may play in helping them after they have had their baby. Anyone interested in participating will be asked to take part in one 45-60 minute interview online or over the phone.

The study is looking for Syrian women, who have had a baby within the past five years in Nova Scotia, are at least 6 weeks postpartum, can speak Arabic, have come to Canada as a refugee (not immigrant or refugee claimant), and who live in the Halifax Regional Municipality. You will be asked a series of open-ended questions about your experiences, particularly about the barriers you encountered when trying to use postnatal health services, if you family and friends helped you with your baby, what services you really like, and what are missing. The lead researcher and an interpreter will be present. Your responses will be audiotaped, and you will need access to a private, quiet space to complete the interview.

Please note that you are under no obligation to partake in this study. Choosing to take part or not take part will have no effect on your ability to access any healthcare services. The research team will do everything possible to make sure any information you share will be kept private and confidential. Your name will not be attached to anything you say, it will be kept completely anonymous.

Please let me know if you are interested in taking part or if you have any questions. We can schedule interviews for any time that is convenient for you and your family, including evenings and weekends. You will be given a \$25 gift card for participating.

Does this sound like something you are interested in?

[If no] – No problem at all. Thanks for taking my call.

[If yes] – Wonderful. When are you available to complete the interview?

Would you prefer to complete the interview over the phone or through a video call?

I just need to ask several questions to make sure you are eligible to complete the study:

Are you from Syria?

Did you arrive in Canada as a status refugee?

Do you live in the Halifax Regional Municipality?

Have you had a baby within the past five years?

Are you at least 6 weeks postpartum?

[If all of the above criteria are met]: Can I get your email to send you further information about the study?

I will call you two days before the interview as a reminder.

Thank you for calling!

Appendix E: Recruitment Poster

Looking for New Syrian
Mothers to Share their Story

The research study "Understanding Access to Postnatal Healthcare for Syrian Newcomer Women in Nova Scotia: Barriers, Facilitators, and Need for Services" is looking for recent mothers to participate in an online or phone interview.

We are interested in learning about your experiences accessing or trying to access healthcare services for your own health and if any family or friends helped with your new baby. You will receive a \$25 gift card for participating. Interviews can be conducted completely in Arabic and will be private and confidential.

To participate, you must:

- Have had a baby in Halifax in the past 5 years
- Be at least 6 weeks postpartum
- Speak Arabic or English
- Have come to Canada from Syria as a refugee
- Have access to a phone, tablet, or computer and a quiet, private space to complete the interview

Participation is completely voluntary. Choosing to participate or not will have no impact on the services provided by any community or health services organization.

If you are interested in participating, contact us in Arabic or English:

[Emma Cameron & Research Assistant name(s), study email & phone number]



Social Sciences and Humanities

Conseil de recherches en sciences humaines du Canac

Canadä





Appendix F: Consent Form– Individual Interview

[This was made available in Arabic]

CONSENT FORM



Project title: Understanding Access to Postnatal Healthcare for Syrian Refugee Women in Nova Scotia: Barriers, Facilitators, and Need for Services

Lead researcher:
Emma Cameron (BSc)
Masters Student
School of Health and Human Performance
Dalhousie University
emmacameron@dal.ca

Other researchers:
Lois Jackson (PhD)
School of Health and Human Performance
Dalhousie University
Lois.jackson@dal.ca

Megan Aston (PhD) School of Nursing Dalhousie University Megan.Aston@dal.ca

Howard Ramos (PhD)
Department of Sociology and Social Anthropology
Dalhousie University
Howard.Ramos@dal.ca

Introduction

You are invited to take part in a research study that is being conducted by, Emma Cameron, who is a master's student in Health Promotion at Dalhousie University. Choosing whether or not to take part in this research is entirely your choice. There will be no impact on your ability to use any healthcare services if you decide not to participate in the research. The information below tells you about what is involved in the research, what you will be asked to do and about any benefit, risk, inconvenience or discomfort that you might experience.

Please ask as many questions as you like. If you have questions later, please contact Emma Cameron.

Purpose and Outline of the Research Study

The purpose of this study is to examine Syrian newcomer women's experiences accessing or trying to access postnatal healthcare services in Halifax during the first year after childbirth. I am also interested if you had access to any family or friends for support during this time. Specifically, I want to know what helped you access services, what made accessing services challenging or impossible, if you had family/friends available to help you with your new baby, and how they may have helped your health and wellbeing, what healthcare services you really appreciated, and what healthcare services you feel might be missing in Halifax.

Who Can Take Part in the Research Study

You are able to participate in this study if the following applies to you:

- You have had a baby within the past five years in Nova Scotia and are at least six weeks postpartum
- Have come to Canada from Syria as a refugee
- Speak Arabic
- Live in the Halifax Regional Municipality

What You Will Be Asked to Do

If you decide to participate in this research, you will be asked to take part in a one-on-one interview and answer several demographic questions. The interview will last about 45-60 minutes. You will be asked a series of open-ended questions about your experiences after you had a baby. We will ask you specifically about your experiences accessing healthcare services for your own health, if you had family and friends to help you after your baby was born, what health services you really liked, and what might be missing. I will also ask you whether COVID-19 had an impact on your postnatal experiences.

Possible Benefits. Risks and Discomforts

Benefits: Participating in this study may not directly benefit you; however, you will be contributing to research that may help us learn more about how newcomer mothers experience healthcare services and supports in Halifax during the postnatal period. It is possible that results from this study may have the potential to create change to programs or policies in Nova Scotia to improve newcomer women's access to postnatal-related healthcare

Risks: The risks associated with this study are minimal, it is possible that taking part in this research study could cause some distress or discomfort. However, you do not have to answer any questions that make you feel uncomfortable. You may choose how much information you would like to share with us.

Compensation / Reimbursement

To thank you for your time, you will receive a \$25 gift card.

How your information will be protected:

Privacy: The information that you provide to us will be kept confidential. Your identity will be known only to myself and the interpreter. It will not be shared with anyone else. All electronic files will be password protected and kept on a password protected hard drive. The hard drive and any paper materials will be kept in a locked cabinet in the home of the primary investigator. We may describe and share our findings as part of a thesis, presentations, public media, journal articles, report, etc. We will only report deidentified quotes. Demographic information will be presented together for the entire group of participants. This means that you will not be identified in any way in our reports.

Limits to confidentiality: We will not disclose any information about your participation except as required by law. If you inform us about abuse or neglect of a child, we are required by law to contact authorities.

Data retention:

Once the study is over your data will be kept for five years before being physically destroyed. During this time any hard copies of forms or hard drives with electronic files will be kept in a locked cabinet at Dalhousie University. Any documents will be password protected and kept on password protected hard drives.

If You Decide to Stop Participating

You are free to leave the study at any time. If you decide to stop participating in the study, you can decide if you want to withdraw the information you have contributed up to that point, or if you want to allow us to still use that information. You will have up until 2 weeks after your participation to inform the researcher if you want your data to be removed. It will be analyzed after that point.

How to Obtain Results

At the end of this form, you will be asked whether you would like a copy of the final results sent to you when the study is over.

Questions

We are happy to talk with you about any questions or concerns you may have about your participation in this research study. Please contact Emma Cameron at emmacameron@dal.ca, [Research Assistant name(s)] at [study email address], or Lois Jackson at Lois.Jackson@dal.ca at any time with questions, comments, or concerns about the research study. If you have any ethical concerns about your participation in this research, you may also contact Research Ethics, Dalhousie University at (902) 494-3423, or email: ethics@dal.ca (and reference REB file # 2019-5016).

Signature Page

Project title: Understanding Access to Postnatal Healthcare for Syrian Refugee Women in Nova Scotia: Barriers, Facilitators, and Need for Services

Lead researcher:
Emma Cameron (BSc)
Masters Student
School of Health and Human Performance
Dalhousie University
emmacameron@dal.ca
902-456-0575
English only

Research Assistant (or Assistants): [Contact information of RA(s)]

I have read the explanation about this study. I have been given the opportunity to discuss it and my questions have been answered to my satisfaction. I understand that I have been asked to take part in a one-on-one interview and that it will be audio recorded. I understand direct quotes of things I say may be used without identifying me. I agree to take part in this study. My participation is voluntary, and I understand that I am free to withdraw from the study at any time.

If you decide to stop participating at any point in the study, you can decide if you want to withdraw any of the study information you have contributed up to that point, or if you want to allow us to still use that information. You will have up until 2 weeks after your participation to inform the researcher if you want your data to be removed. It will be analyzed after that point.

Do you consent to take part in	this one-on-one interview?	
Yes No		
Name of Researcher	Signature	

C 1	we will be creating a summary of the resu final results from this study? If so, could ailing address?	
Yes No		
If yes,		
Email or mailing address:		
Name of Researcher	Signature	Date

Appendix G: Demographics Form

[This was completed orally]

Thank you, [PARTICIPANT NAME] for agreeing to participate in this research project. My name is [RESARCH ASSISTANT NAME]. I am a research assistant on this study and I will be interpreting today. Emma Cameron is the primary researcher on this study. She is a master's student in Health Promotion at Dalhousie University. We are doing this interview today to learn more about your experiences using or trying to use healthcare services during the <u>first year</u> after you had your baby in Halifax. We are specifically interested in <u>your health</u>, not your baby's. These healthcare services can include visiting a family physician, walk-in clinics, the emergency department, or mental health or wellness services (counsellors, psychologists, social workers), or community groups (Veith House, Fairview Family Centre, doula program).

We are also interested in the role any family, friends, or community members may play in helping you after you've had your baby. Any information you share about them will be kept private. Services you receive from them will not be affected in any way.

First, we do want to ask you some basic demographic questions. Please let us know if there are any questions you do not feel comfortable answering. We will skip them.

1.	How long ago did you first arrive in Canada?
2.	Under which government program did you come to Canada? (e.g., government assisted refugee, blended visa office referred refugee, privately sponsored refugee)
3.	How many children do you have?
4.	What is your relationship status?
	Married Widowed Divorced Separated Other: Prefer not to answer
_	XX 1 0 11 1

5. Yearly family income

We do not have enough money for basic necessities
We have enough money for basic necessities but no extras
We have enough money to buy extra things beyond necessities, at least
sometimes

Prefer not to answer

6.	Did any part of your postnatal period (the 12 months after you had your baby)		
	take place during the COVID-19 pandemic?		
	Yes		
	No		
If yes, what part of your postnatal experience was during the panden			

Appendix H: Interview Guide [This was made available in Arabic]

Now we are going to ask you some open questions about your experiences with your new baby. Our questions will focus on your use and access to health and wellness services and what support you had from family and friends. We also want to know about the services and supports you found to be most helpful, if there were any services or supports missing, and how being a new Canadian affected your postnatal experiences. Please feel free to speak about whatever you are comfortable sharing. You do not have to answer any questions that make you feel uncomfortable.

[Please note that the same questions may not be used in all individual interviews. Probes used may differ between interviews. Probes are in italics.]

- 1. Can you tell me a little bit about what it's like to be a mother in Nova Scotia?
- 2. Did you use any health or wellness services (e.g. family doctor, counsellor, doula) during the first year after giving birth?
 - a. If yes, can you tell me about your experience(s)?
 - b. How did you decide where to go? What services did you use? Why?
 - c. Were there any services or supports you wish you had access or that you tried to access but couldn't?
 - d. Did you use any mental health or mental wellness services? Why or why not?
 - e. Did you experience any barriers to accessing services?
 - i. If so, what were they?
 - ii. Transportation? Childcare? Language barrier? Interpreter? Unsure where to go? Sigma?
 - f. Were there any things that helped you access services?
 - i. Having childcare? Access to interpretation? Family/friends to drive you there? Someone to help you navigate available services?
 - g. [If the participant answered yes to COVID-19 demographic question] How did COVID-19 impact your ability to access healthcare services?
 - i. Were any services unavailable? Available virtually?
- 3. Did you have any friends of family nearby after you had your baby?
 - a. If yes, can you tell me about your experience(s)?
 - b. How were they able to support you?
 - i. Childcare? Housework? Transportation? Emotional support? Advice/guidance?
 - c. Who did you go to? Why?
 - d. Were there any support people you wish you had access to but didn't?
 - e. Were you always able to use family and friends to help you?
 - i. What challenges did you face?
 - ii. Do you have family and friends somewhere else? Were you always able to talk to your partner?

- f. Did they contribute to your physical health or mental health and wellbeing?
- g. [If the participant answered yes to COVID-19 demographic question] How did COVID-19 impact your ability to see family, friends, or your community?
 - i. How did this affect you and your mental health and wellbeing? How do you think COVID-19 changed your postnatal experience?
- 4. What do you think about the services and supports available to newcomer mothers in Halifax?
 - a. Of the services or supports you did use, which did you find most valuable?
- 5. What supports or services could you have used? Did you feel like some services were missing?
- 6. Does being a newcomer affect your using or not using of services?
 - a. Why or why not?
- 7. Is there anything else you would like to add?

Thank you for participating in our research project. As a thank you for your time, we have a \$25 gift card for you. Are you okay if we send an electronic gift card to your email address? If that is not possible, you have the option to provide us with your mailing address and we can mail you a hard copy card.

Email:	_	
Mailing address (if requested):	 	

[If receiving hard copy card] Please send us an email or give us a quick call once you have received your gift card so we know it was not lost in the mail. Please contact us again in one month if you still have not received it and we will send a replacement.

Appendix I: Lists of Services/Supports

For a mental or physical health emergency, please call 911 or visit your local emergency department.

24-Hour Mental Health Crisis Line

• 902-429-8167

Toll Free: 1-888-429-8167

Family Doctor or General Practitioner

This is the first step to get referred into the Public Mental Health Service in Nova Scotia. Mental Health services provided by the Public Mental Health Service are free. If you need a family doctor, see below:

- Register for a family doctor: https://needafamilypractice.nshealth.ca/; Call 811
- Newcomer Health Clinic (provides health services for government assisted refugees, privately sponsored refugees, and refugee claimants): 844-762-8080; 902-487-0501

Private Mental Healthcare Practitioners

These services are typically provided at a cost. With a referral and pre-approval from a family doctor, the Interim Federal Health Plan may cover the fees. If you or a spouse has health insurance through an employer, you may have coverage through there.

- Social Worker Registry: https://onlineservice.nscsw.org/webs/nscsw/register/
- Psychologist Directory: https://apns.ca/find-a-psychologist/
- Counselling Therapist : https://nscct.ca/find-counselling-therapist/

Veith House

Veith House offers counselling services provided by a social worker, with a focus on trauma informed empowerment.

- https://www.veithhouse.com/counselling
- (902) 453-4320
- veithhouse@hfx.eastlink.ca

Halifax Refuge Clinic

In-house volunteer counselling services.

- http://halifaxrefugeeclinic.org/?page_id=30
- (902) 422-6736
- halifaxrefugeeclinic@gmail.com

Fairview Family Centre

On-site social worker and crisis intervention services.

https://www.ffcns.ca/about

- (902) 443-9569
- info@FFCNS.ca

COVID-19

If you think you should get tested for COVID-19 you will need to call 811 to determine if there is a need for an in-person assessment. Visit https://novascotia.ca/coronavirus/ for more information.

Appendix J: Social Media Post

Join our research study! We are looking for Syrian newcomer moms to talk to us about their experiences using health services & social supports after having a baby & what services are missing & needed. Complete a 60-minute interview in Arabic or English and receive a \$25 gift card.

Appendix K: Reminder Email

Dear [PARTICIPANT NAME],

Please note that you are scheduled to complete an interview on [DATE] at [TIME] to talk about your experiences after having a baby in Halifax. See below for call information:

[Teams link or conference call line]

If you can no longer attend and need to reschedule, please contact the research team at [email] or by calling [phone number].

Sincerely,

Email signature

Appendix L: Ethics Approval

Health Sciences Research Ethics Board Letter of Approval

March 04, 2020

Emma Cameron

Health\School of Health and Human Performance

Dear Emma,

REB #: 2019-5016

Project Title: Understanding Access to Postnatal Healthcare for Syrian Refugee Women in Nova Scotia: Barriers, Facilitators, and Need for Services

Effective Date: March 04, 2020 **Expiry Date:** March 04, 2021

The Health Sciences Research Ethics Board has reviewed your application for research involving humans and found the proposed research to be in accordance with the Tri-Council Policy Statement on *Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans*. This approval will be in effect for 12 months as indicated above. This approval is subject to the conditions listed below which constitute your on-going responsibilities with respect to the ethical conduct of this research.

Sincerely,

Dr. Lori Weeks, Chair

Social Sciences & Humanities Research Ethics Board Amendment Approval

August 11, 2020

Emma Cameron Health\School of Health and Human Performance

Dear Emma,

REB #: 2019-5016

Project Title: Understanding Access to Postnatal Healthcare for Syrian Refugee Women in Nova Scotia: Barriers, Facilitators, and Need for Services

The Social Sciences & Humanities Research Ethics Board has reviewed your amendment request and has approved this amendment request effective today, August 11, 2020.

Effective March 16, 2020: Notwithstanding this approval, any research conducted during the COVID-19 public health emergency must comply with federal and provincial public health advice as well as directives issued by Dalhousie University (or other facilities where the research will occur) regarding preventing the spread of COVID-19.

Sincerely,

Dr. Karen Foster, Chair

DALHOUSIE
UNIVERSITY

Research Services